LONG-TERM METABOLIC EFFECTS OF REPEATED NEONATAL ORAL SUCROSE

TREATMENT IN MICE

by

Cynthia Yamilka Ramírez Contreras

B.Sc. Universidad de Guadalajara (México), 2011

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF

THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

(Experimental Medicine)

THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

(Vancouver)

April 2020

© Cynthia Yamilka Ramírez Contreras, 2020

The following individuals certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies for acceptance, a thesis entitled:

Long-term metabolic effects of repeated neonatal oral sucrose treatment in mice.

submitted by	Cynthia Yamilka Ramírez Contreras	in partial fulfillment of the requirements for
the degree of	Master of Science	
in	Experimental Medicine	

Examining Committee:

Angela M. Devlin, PhD. Department of Pediatrics, UBC. Supervisor

Kiran K. Soma, PhD. Department of Psychology, UBC. Supervisory Committee Member

Liisa Holsti, PhD. Department of Occupational Science & Occupational Therapy, UBC. Supervisory Committee Member

Stefan Taubert, PhD. Department of Medical Genetics, UBC. Additional Examiner

Abstract

Background: Preterm infants (<37 weeks of gestation) often require hospitalization in the neonatal intensive care unit and experience painful procedures due to medical care. Oral sucrose treatment for analgesia is the non-pharmacological standard of care for minor procedural pain relief. The objective of my MSc thesis research was to determine the long-term effects of repeated neonatal oral sucrose treatment on growth, adiposity, and glucose homeostasis in a mouse model.

Methodology: Neonatal female and male mice (C57BL/6J) were randomly assigned to one of four treatments (n=7-10 mice/group/sex): water, sucrose, fructose, or glucose. Pups were treated 10 times/day for the first six days of life with 0.2g/kg body weight of respective treatments (24% solution; 1-4 μ L/dose) orally to model what is given to preterm infants. Mice were weaned onto a control diet and fed until age 16 weeks (adulthood). Pups were weighed daily from birth to weaning and weekly thereafter. Longitudinal growth and body composition were assessed at adulthood. Physiological assessments of glucose homeostasis (intraperitoneal glucose and insulin tolerance tests; glucose-stimulated insulin secretion test) were performed at weaning and adulthood. Insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) and liver water-soluble choline metabolites were also assessed.

Results: Female and male sucrose-treated mice gained less weight during the suckling period (p < 0.01 vs other groups) and were smaller at weaning compared to the water- and glucose-treated mice (p < 0.05). At age 16 weeks, female sucrose-treated mice had smaller tibias (p < 0.001)

vs all) and lower serum IGF-1 concentrations (p<0.05 vs water). This was accompanied by lower (p<0.05 vs water) liver free choline, phosphocholine, and glycerophosphocholine concentrations, and higher betaine (p<0.01 vs water) concentrations in the sucrose-treated compared to the water-treated female mice. No differences in growth or liver choline metabolites were observed in male mice. Neonatal treatments had no effect on adiposity or glucose homeostasis in female or male mice.

Conclusion: My findings suggest that repeated neonatal sucrose treatment affects growth in female mice, perhaps through an IGF-1-dependent pathway and alters liver choline metabolism. Further research is required to determine the functional consequences of these alterations.

Lay Summary

In Canada, >17,000 premature babies are born each year. These newborns are cared for in the neonatal intensive care unit, where they may undergo 10-23 painful procedures per day. One standard way to treat pain is to give liquid sugar to the baby during mildly painful procedures, such as blood tests. Depending on the number of procedures, a baby can consume a lot of sugar while in the hospital. This raises questions regarding the long-term safety of the liquid sugar. In my thesis research, I studied the long-term effects of liquid sugar during the neonatal period on growth and the metabolism of sugar using a mouse model. I gave liquid sugar to newborn mice in the same dosage that is given to premature babies and assessed growth and metabolism in adulthood. I found that female mice treated with liquid sugar had altered growth. No changes were observed in males. I concluded that female newborn mice treated with liquid sugar have growth problems and that more research is required to find how sugar affects growth.

Preface

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in the Department of Experimental Medicine. All experiments pertaining to this thesis were performed under the guidance and supervision of Dr. Angela Devlin. This thesis was revised and approved by Dr. Angela Devlin, Dr. Kiran K. Soma and Dr. Liisa Holsti.

The procedures and experiments presented in this thesis were conducted in Dr. Devlin's lab at BC Children's Hospital Research Institute (BCCHRI). The neonatal mouse treatments were performed in the Animal Unit of the Centre for Molecular Medicine and Therapeutics at BCCHRI by me with the help of Dr. Arya Mehran, Melody Salehzadeh and Martina Stokes. The tissue harvest was performed in the BCCHRI animal unit by me with the help of Dr. Alejandra Wiedeman and Ei-Xia Mussai. All animal work was approved by the UBC Animal Care Committee (certificate: A17-0115) and biosafety committee (certificate: B18-0029).

The liver water-soluble choline metabolites were analyzed by Roger Dyer, Senior Laboratory Technician of the BCCHRI Analytical Core for Metabolomics and Nutrition. The western blot analysis was performed by me with the guidance of Dr. Daniel Gamu, postdoctoral fellow in Dr. William Gibson's lab at BCCHRI. All other molecular experiments and the preparation of this thesis were performed by me.

My initial research findings were presented in poster format at the 79th Scientific Sessions of the American Diabetes Association in June 2019 in San Francisco, California. My abstract from this meeting is published: *Diabetes* 2019;68 (suppl 1):290-LB. Additional findings of my research were to be presented in a poster format at the Canadian Nutrition Society 2020 Annual Conference to be held in Edmonton, Alberta in May 2020; the meeting was cancelled because of

vi

the COVID-19 pandemic. My abstract from this meeting will be published in *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab* 2020; in press. My thesis research will be submitted for publication; a manuscript is currently in preparation.

Table of Contents

Abstract.	iii
Lay Sumi	naryv
Preface	vi
Table of (Contentsviii
List of Ta	blesxi
List of Fig	guresxii
List of Ab	breviationsxiii
Acknowle	edgementsxv
Dedicatio	nxvii
Chapter 1	: Introduction1
1.1	Prevalence of Preterm Birth1
1.2	Procedural Pain in Preterm Infants1
1.2.1	Assessment and Management of Procedural Pain in the NICU
1.2.2	Non-pharmacologic Analgesia7
1.3	Oral Sucrose for Procedural Pain
1.3.1	Mechanistic Pathways of Sucrose-dependent Analgesia9
1.3.2	Detrimental Effects of Neonatal Exposure to Sucrose in Mice and Humans11
1.4	Sucrose Metabolism in Preterm Infants13
1.4.1	Sucrose Digestion
1.4.2	Fructose and Glucose Intestinal Absorption14
1.4.3	Fructose and Glucose Metabolism in the Liver

	1.4.3.1 Carbohydrate-dependent Fibroblast Growth Factor-21 Stimulation	
	1.4.3.2 Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 Signaling and FGF21 Blockage of STAT	Γ5 in the
]	Liver	23
1.5	Cardiometabolic Disease Risk	25
1.5	Preterm Birth and Cardiometabolic Disease Risk	25
1.5	5.2 Sucrose Consumption and Cardiometabolic Risk	26
1.6	Choline and Growth and Development	27
Chapte	r 2: Rationale and Hypothesis	
Chapte	r 3: Materials and Methods	
3.1	Experimental Design	
3.2	Assessment of Growth	35
3.3	Serum IGF-1 and FGF21	35
3.4	Gene Expression	
3.5	Immunoblot	
3.6	Histological Analysis of Jejunum	
3.7	Glucose Homeostasis	
3.8	Liver Choline Metabolites	
3.9	Liver Triglyceride Quantification	40
3.10	Statistical Analyses	41
Chapte	r 4: Growth, Body Composition and Adiposity	
4.1	Body Weight	43
4.2	Length	46
4.3	Body Composition and Adiposity	47
		ix

4.4	Organ Weights	49
4.5	Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 (IGF-1) and Fibroblast Growth Factor-21 (FGF21)	50
4.6	Small Intestine Morphology	52
Chapter	5: Assessment of Glucose Homeostasis	54
5.1	Glucose Metabolism at Weaning	54
5.2	Glucose Metabolism During Adulthood	54
Chapter	6: Liver Choline Metabolites	58
Chapter	7: Discussion	61
7.1	Effects on Growth	62
7.2	Effects of Neonatal Sucrose on Choline Metabolites	65
7.3	Effects on Adiposity	66
7.4	Effects on Glucose Homeostasis	67
7.5	Differential Effects of Sucrose, Fructose and Glucose	67
7.6	Conclusions and Limitations	68
7.7	Future Directions	69
Bibliogr	aphy	71
Appendi	X	85

List of Tables

Table 1-2. Examples of long-term effects of neonatal pain in preterm infants4Table 3-1. Maternal and post-weaning diet composition32Table 3-2. Nuclease probe qPCR assays36Table 4-1. Female total adiposity and individual fat pad weight48Table 4-2. Male total adiposity and individual fat pad weight48Table 4-3. Female tissue distribution49Table 4-4. Male tissue distribution49	Table 1-1. Examples of short-term effects of neonatal pain in preterm infants	2
Table 3-1. Maternal and post-weaning diet composition32Table 3-2. Nuclease probe qPCR assays36Table 4-1. Female total adiposity and individual fat pad weight48Table 4-2. Male total adiposity and individual fat pad weight48Table 4-3. Female tissue distribution49Table 4-4. Male tissue distribution49	Table 1-2. Examples of long-term effects of neonatal pain in preterm infants	4
Table 3-2. Nuclease probe qPCR assays36Table 4-1. Female total adiposity and individual fat pad weight48Table 4-2. Male total adiposity and individual fat pad weight48Table 4-3. Female tissue distribution49Table 4-4. Male tissue distribution49	Table 3-1. Maternal and post-weaning diet composition	
Table 4-1. Female total adiposity and individual fat pad weight	Table 3-2. Nuclease probe qPCR assays	
Table 4-2. Male total adiposity and individual fat pad weight	Table 4-1. Female total adiposity and individual fat pad weight	48
Table 4-3. Female tissue distribution49Table 4-4. Male tissue distribution49	Table 4-2. Male total adiposity and individual fat pad weight	48
Table 4-4. Male tissue distribution	Table 4-3. Female tissue distribution	49
	Table 4-4. Male tissue distribution	49

List of Figures

Figure 1-1. A guide to pain management	7
Figure 1-2. Sucrose digestion and absorption14	ł
Figure 1-3. Fructose and glucose metabolism in the liver	l
Figure 1-4. Growth hormone signalling in the liver24	ł
Figure 1-5. Overview of choline metabolism)
Figure 3-1. Research design overview	ł
Figure 4-1. Body weight and weight gain during the suckling period	ł
Figure 4-2. Body weight and weight gain	5
Figure 4-3. Longitudinal growth assessment	5
Figure 4-4. Body composition during adulthood	7
Figure 4-5. Serum IGF-1 and FGF21 concentrations and liver <i>Igf-1</i> and <i>Fgf21</i> mRNA51	l
Figure 4-6. Morphology of female adult jejunum	<u>)</u>
Figure 5-1. Glucose and insulin tolerance in mice at weaning	5
Figure 5-2. Glucose and insulin tolerance in adult mice	5
Figure 5-3. Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in adult mice	7
Figure 6-1. Water-soluble choline metabolites in the liver)
Figure 6-2. Liver triglycerides)
Figure 7-1. Overarching summary of thesis)

List of Abbreviations

5'NT	5'-nucleotidase
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
ALS	Acid-label subunit
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
AMPD2	Adenosine monophosphate deaminase 2
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BCCHRI	British Columbia Children's Hospital Research Institute
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
ChREBP	Carbohydrate-responsive element binding protein
CMMT	Centre for Molecular Medicine and Therapeutics
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
F	Fructose
FGF21	Fibroblast growth factor 21
FGFR	Fibroblast growth factor receptor
G	Glucose
G3P	Glycerol-3-phosphate
G3P-O-A	Glycerol-3-phosphate acyltransferase
GA3P	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate
GH	Growth hormone
GHR	Growth hormone receptor
GHRH	Growth hormone releasing hormone
GLUT	Glucose transporter
GSIS	Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion test
IGF-1	Insulin-like growth factor 1
IGF-1R	Insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor
IGFBP3	Insulin-like growth factor binding protein 3
IMP	Inosine monophosphate
IP	Intraperitoneal
IPITT	Intraperitoneal insulin tolerance test
IPGTT	Intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test
JAK	Janus kinase
\mathbf{K}^+	Potassium
KHK	Ketohexokinase-C
КОН	Potassium hydroxide

LC-MS/MS	High performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry
mRNA	messenger RNA
Na^+	Sodium
NaCl	Sodium chloride
NICU	Neonatal intensive care unit
Р	Postnatal day
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PEP	Phosphoenolpyruvate
PKLR	Pyruvate kinase
PNP	Purine nucleosidase phosphorilase
PIPP	Premature infant pain profile
Pro-SI	Pro sucrase-isomaltase
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SD	Standard deviation
SGLT	Sodium-glucose linked transporter
SI	Sucrase-isomaltase enzyme
SIF	Sucrose-isomaltase footprint
SOCS2	Suppressor of cytokine signalling 2
SREBP	Sterol regulatory element binding protein
SSB	Sugar-sweetened beverages
STAT5b	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 5b
TBST	Tris buffer saline and tween 20
TKFC	Triokinase
VLDL	Very-low-density lipoproteins
V/V	Volume to volume
W/V	Weight to volume
WHO	World Health Organization
XO	Xantine oxidase

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Angela Devlin for providing me this life-changing opportunity and for trusting me the development of this project. Dr. Devlin always encouraged my curiosity and supported my new ideas for the project. Under her guidance, I had the opportunity to appreciate high-quality research, learn laboratory techniques and gain an understanding of the complex interaction of nutrients in the body. I will always be grateful with Dr. Devlin for allowing me to live this experience in her lab. I would like to extend my gratitude to my supervisory committee: Dr Kiran Soma and Dr. Liisa Holsti for their guidance and proactive conversations. I always felt supported and appreciated by them.

I would like to acknowledge the Healthy Starts Catalyst Grant for the financial support for my research project and the Government of Mexico for the scholarship to pursue my master studies through the National Council of Science and Technology (Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología, CONACYT).

I would like to thank my friend Dr. Alejandra Wiedeman, for her unconditional support and for her willingness to help. She made me feel the Latin-American warmness from back home. Special thanks to my friends –Ei-Xia Mussai and Nicha Boonpattrawong– members of the Devlin lab, for their guidance, support and for the countless moments of laughs. I felt blessed to be part of this team. I also thank Dr. Abeer Aljaadi and Amanda Henderson for their encouragement and help in several laboratory processes.

I would like to acknowledge Dr. Daniel Gamu for his amazing teaching skills that made me never give up with my western blots. Also, to Dr. Larissa Celiberto and Paula Littlejohn for their guidance, help and constant support in the analysis of jejunum samples and tibia assessments.

XV

Thanks to my friends from back home, especially to Eyskra, Magali, Faby, and the Amai group. Finally, special recognition goes to my husband Pedro for his valuable advice, support, encouragement and for always demonstrating me his true love. Thanks to my parents and sister, I'm here following my dreams because of them.

Dedication

Para mi hermosa familia: Pit, Mamá, Papá, Pat y Jónsi. Ustedes son mi fortaleza, consuelo, y mi mayor bendición. Nada de esto sería posible sin su apoyo.

Los amo con toda mi alma.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Prevalence of Preterm Birth

Preterm birth is defined by the World Health Organization (WHO) as a live birth occurring before 37 weeks of gestation¹. Worldwide it is estimated that 10.6% of infants are born preterm², and in Canada, there are approximately 17,000 preterm births annually³.

1.2 Procedural Pain in Preterm Infants

Nearly 50% of preterm infants require hospitalization at the neonatal intensive care unit (NICU)⁴ where they may experience pain due to essential procedures during their medical care. It is estimated that infants receive between 10 to 23 painful procedures per day^{5, 6} and can undergo more than 400 painful procedures in total during hospitalization, depending on the gestational age at birth⁷. Early and repeated exposure to pain during critical windows of development can have negative effects on short and long-term health of the infant (summarized in Table 1-1 and 1-2). It is well-known that preterm infants are more sensitive to painful stimuli than older children⁸.

	Author Year Country	Study design Participants	Methods	Results
Growth	Vinall et al ⁹ 2012 Canada	Prospective study Preterm infants (<32 weeks of gestation) n=78 Males (50%)	 Neonatal pain (total number of skin-breaking procedures. Type of procedure not specified) Weight and head circumference (sex and age- specific percentiles) 	Greater neonatal pain was associated with lower weight (Wald X^2 7.36 p =0.01) and head circumference (Wald X^2 4.36 p =0.04) percentile at 32 weeks corrected age
Brain development	Brummelte et al ¹⁰ 2012 Canada	Prospective study Preterm infants (<32 weeks of gestation) n=86 Males (48%)	 Number of skin-breaking procedures (heel lance, intravenous or central line insertion, intramuscular injection, chest tube insertion, gastrostomy tube insertion, tape removal, nasogastric tube insertion). White matter fractional anisotropy (thickness; magnetic resonance imaging) 	Increased number of skin breaking procedures was associated with reduced white matter in 7 brain regions at term corrected age $(\beta = -0.0002, 95\% \text{ CI: } -0.00045$ 0.00003; p=0.028)
	Smith et al ¹¹ 2011 United States	Prospective study Preterm infants (<30 weeks of gestation n= 44 Males (44%)	 Cumulative stress score (Neonatal Infant Stressor Scale average daily score) Brain regional size (thickness; magnetic resonance imaging) 	Greater cumulative stress score associated with reduced bifrontal (r= -0.37; p =0.035) and biparietal (r= -0.49; p=0.002) size and white matter diameters (r= -0.38; p =0.021) at 28 days of life.

Table 1-1. Examples of short-term effects of neonatal pain in preterm infants

	Author Year Country	Study design Participants	Methods	Results
Neurobehavioral endpoints	Fitzgerald et al ¹² 1989 United Kingdom	Randomized controlled trial comparing effects of EMLA cream in area of heal lance. Preterm infants (27- 32 weeks of gestation) n=17 Sex unspecified	 Flexor reflex test on plantar surface of foot receiving a repeated painful procedure (heel lancing every 4 hours for 1-3 days) Three groups: control (no heel-lanced); heel-lanced; heel-lanced & EMLA cream 	A repeated painful procedure produces hypersensitivity and sensitization in the heal lance area compared the control group (p <0.01). The group that received EMLA cream presented similar values in the flexor reflex test as the control group.
	Holsti et al ¹³ 2006 Canada	Crossover trial Preterm infants (<32 weeks of gestation). n=43 Males (56%)	 Facial response (Neonatal facial Coding System score) in infants receiving heel lancing after: Rest or Cluster of nursing interventions (not specified) 	Infants displayed greater facial response during heel lancing after receiving a cluster of nursing interventions (p <0.05)
Biochemical indicators	Grunau et al ¹⁴ 2005 Canada	Crossover trial Preterm infants (<32 weeks of gestation). n=87 Males (54%)	 Number of skin-breaking procedures (heel lance, venipuncture, insertion of arterial and venous lines, lumbar puncture, chest-tube insertion) Plasma cortisol after nursing procedures (diaper change, abdominal girth measurement, temperature, mouth care). 	Greater skin-breaking procedures associated with lower plasma cortisol response to nursing procedures in very preterm infants (23-28 weeks of gestation) at corrected age 32 weeks (r= -0.50; p <0.05)

	Author Year Country	Study design Participants	Methods	Results
Brain development	Ranger et al ¹⁵ 2013 Canada	Prospective study Children (age 7-8 years) that were born preterm (<32 weeks of gestation). n=42 Males (38%)	 Number of skin breaking procedures (heel lance, peripheral intravenous or central line insertion, chest-tube insertion, tape removal, nasogastric tube insertion) during NICU hospitalization. Cortical thickness (magnetic resonance imaging) 	Higher number of skin breaking procedures during the neonatal period was associated with reduced cortical thickness in 21 out of 66 brain regions (p <0.05)
Neurobehavioral endpoints	Gaspardo et al ¹⁶ 2018 Brazil	Retrospective study Toddlers (age 18- 36 months) that were born preterm (<34 weeks of gestation; <1,500g) n=62 Males (49%)	 Neonatal pain-related stress total index during NICU hospitalization calculated by painful procedure: extremely stressful (intubation, intravenous insertion, eye examination, chest drain); very stressful (endotracheal suctioning, heel pricks, insertion of percutaneous long line, lumbar puncture, surgery, insertion of nasal continuous positive airway pressure tube); slightly stressful (blood gases sampling) Temperament (Early Childhood Behavior Questionnaire) 	Higher neonatal pain-related stress total index was associated with lower effortful control temperament (r= -0.41; p=0.001)

Table 1-2. Examples of long-term effects of neonatal pain in preterm infants

	Author Year Country	Study design Participants	Methods	Results
Neurobehavior	Grunau et al ¹⁷ 2009 Canada	Prospective study Infants at 8- and 18-months corrected age that were born preterm (<32 weeks gestation) n=116 (8 months) 102 (18 months) Males 48%	 Total number of skin breaking procedures (including heel lance, intramuscular injection, chest tube insertion, central line insertion) from birth to term corrected age. Cognitive and psychomotor development index (Bayley Scales of Infant Development) 	At 8 and 18 months, higher number of skin breaking procedures was associated to lower cognitive (r=-0.41 and -0.37 p <0.05) and psychomotor development (r= -0.44 and -0.43 p <0.05) index
Biochemical indicators	Brummelte et al ¹⁸ 2015 Canada	Prospective study Children (age 7 years) born preterm (<32 weeks of gestation) n=77 Males 45%	 Total number of skin-breaking procedures (skin-breaking procedures not specified) from birth to term corrected age. Saliva cortisol at: 30 minutes after arrival to the study site, 20 minutes after a cognitive test, and at the end of the visit. 	Higher number of skin- breaking procedures in boys was associated with lower cortisol levels in saliva at all timepoints (r= -0.88; p<0.001)

1.2.1 Assessment and Management of Procedural Pain in the NICU

The assessment of pain in preterm infants is challenging due to the lack of verbal communication and because not a single biological marker is indicative of pain¹⁹. Therefore, clinicians rely on subjective pain scales that consider behavioural and physiological markers to measure and categorize acute neonatal pain²⁰. Components of neonatal pain instruments include facial expression, body movements, crying time, posture and muscular tone, heart rate, blood pressure, oxygen saturation and breathing patterns²¹.

According to a recent integrative review, there are 29 instruments to measure pain in infants²⁰. The most studied and validated are the Neonatal Facial Coding System, the Neonatal Infant Pain Scale, the Cries Score, the Douleur Aiguë du Nouveau-né, and the Premature Infant Pain Profile (PIPP). Interestingly, none of these scales are accurate enough to be considered a gold standard for detecting pain²⁰. Assessing pain in neurologically compromised and extremely preterm infants is especially challenging and these infants are at higher risk of pain mismanagement and pain underrecognition²¹.

Analgesia can be provided to neonatal infants based on the threshold of pain elicited by a procedure. A recent approach to guide clinicians in pain management decision making is shown in Figure 1-1.





Non-pharmacological analgesia

Figure 1-1. A guide to pain management

Adapted from: Witt et al. Curr Emerg Hosp Med Rep;4:1-10 (2016)

1.2.2 Non-pharmacologic Analgesia

Major medical procedures, such as surgery, mechanical ventilation and central line catheterization, justify the use of pharmacological analgesia. However, there are several minor procedures where the use of anesthetic agents is not recommended, including intramuscular injection, heel lance, and peripheral cannulation¹⁹. Pain from minimally invasive procedures can trigger behavioural, physiological and hormonal responses⁸.

Non-pharmacological therapies are a validated alternative to relieve pain, although for some, the mechanisms of action are not fully understood²². These therapies include: breast feeding, oral sucrose/glucose, skin-to-skin contact, swaddling, facilitated tucking, therapeutic touch/massage, musical therapy, non-nutritive sucking, acupuncture, and therapeutic robots^{23, 24}. Sensorial saturation is a recent approach to manage pain, where a combination of oral sucrose, massage therapy, and auditory stimulation is given to babies throughout the painful procedure²⁵. Currently, oral sucrose is considered the clinical standard of care for minor procedural pain and it is one of the most studied non-pharmacological interventions for pain relief 26 .

1.3 Oral Sucrose for Procedural Pain

Blass and colleagues were the first researchers to describe the analgesic effects of oral sucrose in an animal model²⁷. In their study, heat latency (paw-lift test to a hot plate 48-49°C) was assessed in Sprague-Dawley rat pups (age 10 days, n=80, unspecified sex) treated orally with either 0.2mL of 7.5% sucrose or water, one minute before the heat test. Sucrose-treated pups increased heat latency by 3-fold compared to water-treated pups at 1 and 3 minutes post sucrose administration²⁷. The same research group then demonstrated the sedative effects of oral sucrose in full-term human infants (n=54; 50% males) undergoing blood collection via heel lance. Infants received 2 mL of water or 12% sucrose, 2 minutes prior to the procedure. Crying time was assessed by researchers blinded to group assignments. Sucrose-treated infants cried for 50% less time than water-treated infants²⁸.

Since then, many studies have reported sedative effects of oral sucrose prior to minor medical procedures. A recent Cochrane systematic review that included 74 randomized controlled trials and 7,049 infants (sex unspecified) concluded that oral sucrose alone or combined with non-nutritive sucking is effective at reducing pain (subjectively measured by pain scales) from a single minor medical procedure, including heel lance, venipuncture and intramuscular injection, in both term and preterm infants²⁶. However, there is very limited research on the effects of repeated doses of sucrose on preterm infant outcomes. Indeed, the American Academy of Pediatrics recommends further studies in the long-term effects and that sucrose have to be administered as a pharmaceutical agent so that accurate recording of dosing can be maintained²⁹. Nevertheless, in Canada, 64% of NICUs have active protocols of oral sucrose treatment for analgesia for minor painful procedures³⁰. The sucrose precise dose required to relieve pain in clinically stable or critical infants is not known. The sucrose doses that are used

vary by concentration (7.5%, 12%, 24%, 33%) and volume (0.05-3.00 mL)³⁰. The American Academy of Pediatrics recommends an oral dose of 0.1 to 1.0 mL (or 0.2-0.5mL/kg) of 24% sucrose given 2 minutes before each minor painful procedure²⁹.

1.3.1 Mechanistic Pathways of Sucrose-dependent Analgesia

The mechanisms underlying the analgesic effects of sucrose are not clear, but evidence in rats indicates that they may involve release of endogenous opioids, serotonin and/or acetylcholine. Blass et al.²⁷ assessed the reversible antinociceptive effect of oral sucrose treatment using the opioid antagonist naltrexone. Sprague-Dawley albino rat pups (age 10 days, n=8 per group, unspecified sex) were assigned to one of three treatment groups: a) 11.5% oral sucrose and intraperitoneal injection (IP) of naltrexone (0.5 mg/kg), b) 11.5% oral sucrose and IP of isotonic saline solution and c) oral water and IP of isotonic saline solution. Sucrose solutions and water were administrated intraorally in a dosage of 0.2mL one minute before paw lift latency to heat (hot plate 48-49°C) was assessed. Sucrose-treated pups with IP of isotonic saline solution increased paw lift latency by 2.5-fold compared to water-treated pups. In contrast, sucrose antinociception was completely suppressed in sucrose-treated pups that received IP naltrexone, suggesting that the analgesic effects of sucrose involve endogenous opioids.

De Freitas et al.³¹ further investigated the role of the specific μ_1 -opioid receptor in sucrose antinociception using the μ_1 -opioid-antagonist, naloxonazine, in adolescent rats. Male Wistar rats (age 42 days, n=8 per group) were divided in two groups and received an IP injection of: a) naloxonazine (0.25 mg/kg) or b) saline solution. Twenty-four hours post-injection, rats were then subdivided into three groups: a) IP naloxonazine + sucrose; b) IP saline + sucrose; or c) IP saline + water (control group). The water and sucrose (250 g/L) were administered

intraorally (single dose; 500 μ L) and tail-flick latency was measured at 0, 5, 10, 15, 20, 25 and 30 minutes post-ingestion. The saline + sucrose group had greater tail-flick latency at 0, 5, 10, 15, and 20 minutes compared to the control group. In contrast, the naloxonazine + sucrose group had no difference in tail-flick latency at any timepoint compared to the control group. This study suggests that the μ_1 -opioid receptor is required for the analgesic effects induced by sucrose.

Other mechanisms of sucrose analgesia, unrelated to the release of endogenous opioids, have also been suggested. However, these studies have been conducted in older rats, and sucrose treatment has been administered for longer periods of time^{32, 33}. For example, Rebouças et al.³² conducted a study in adult male Wistar rats (n=8/group; unspecified age) that received tap water or a sucrose solution (25g/L) *ad libitum* for 14 days. On day 15, rats in the sucrose group were subdivided and treated with one of the following IP injections: a) methysergide (3mg/kg; a serotonin antagonist); b) ketanserin (3mg/kg; a 5-HT_{2A} receptor antagonist); or c) saline solution. Latency to respond to a heat source was assessed with the tail-flick test 15 minutes posttreatment. In rats treated with IP saline, those that received sucrose had greater tail-flick latency compared to those that received water. However, in rats treated with IP methysergide or ketanserin, there were no differences in tail-flick latency between rats receiving sucrose or water. These findings suggest that sucrose analgesia involves serotonin-mediated signaling and the 5-HT_{2A} receptor and this is in agreement with other studies^{34, 35}.

Rada et al.³³ assessed acetylcholine release patterns in response to sucrose. Adult male Sprague-Dawley rats (n=6/group) with brain microdialysis implants in the anterior/posterior medial part of the accumbens shell, were given a 10% sucrose solution orally in three different ways: a) intermittent access (12 hour/day) for 21 days; b) access on days 2 and 21 only; c) *ad libitum* access for 21 days. Acetylcholine release to a sucrose stimulus was assessed in rats three

times (on day 1, 2 and 21). On the day of the experiment, rats underwent a 12-hours fasting and microdialysate samples were collected three times to establish baseline levels of acetylcholine before allowing them to consume a sucrose solution (10%) for 1 hour. Microdialysate samples were taken after sucrose consumption every 30 minutes for 2 hours. On day 1, all groups increased acetylcholine concentrations by 130% during the first 60 minutes of sucrose intake and decreased to baseline levels after the termination of the sucrose intake. On days 2 and 21, rats in the group with daily *ad libitum* access to sucrose and those that received sucrose twice presented the maximum peak of acetylcholine brain concentrations (~120%) sooner during the first 30 minutes of sucrose stimulus compared to rats in the group with intermittent access to sucrose that reached the maximum peak at 60 minutes (~130%). This study suggests an acute release of acetylcholine in the nucleus accumbens in response to sucrose intake, regardless of the previous frequency of sucrose consumption³³. The contribution of each neurochemical pathway to the analgesic properties of sucrose remains unclear.

1.3.2 Detrimental Effects of Neonatal Exposure to Sucrose in Mice and Humans

The long-term neurodevelopmental and metabolic effects of repeated neonatal oral sucrose treatment are not fully understood²⁶. Despite concerns about safety, 40% of hospitalized neonatal infants receive oral sucrose to relieve minor pain at some point during hospitalization³⁶. Preterm infants may be exposed to high and cumulative volumes of sucrose³⁷. For example, Johnston et al.³⁸ reported that at three Canadian level-3 NICUs, the mean doses of sucrose (0.1mL; 24%) administrated per preterm infant (<31 weeks of gestation; n=107; unspecified sex) during the first week of life was 63 doses (range 24 to 125 doses). Furthermore, depending on the medical procedure, an infant could receive up to 3 doses of sucrose per procedure³⁸.

There is some evidence of long-term detrimental effects of repeated neonatal oral sucrose treatment on brain size and neurodevelopment from studies in mice. Tremblay et al.³⁹ reported that adult C57BL/6J mice (n=109; 46% males) treated with neonatal oral sucrose had smaller brain volumes in 21 of 159 regions (measured by magnetic resonance imaging), especially in white matter, cerebellum and ventricles, independent of pain, compared to adult mice that were treated with water during the neonatal period³⁹. Another study from the same research group, reported that in the absence of pain, adult C57BL/6J mice (n=160; 47% males) that received neonatal oral sucrose treatment scored lower in short-term memory tests (Morris water maze test) compared to adult mice that received oral water treatment during the neonatal period⁴⁰.

Only one study in human infants has reported on short-term neurobehavioral effects of repeated neonatal oral sucrose treatment. Johnston et al.³⁸ conducted a randomized controlled trial in preterm infants (<31 weeks of gestation; n=107; unspecified sex) that received either 0.1 mL of sucrose (24%) or water, two minutes before a skin-breaking (e.g. heel lance, intravenous cannulation, arterial puncture or injection) or non-skin-breaking but uncomfortable procedure (e.g. endotracheal tube suctioning, tape removal, nasogastric tube insertion). At gestational age 36 weeks (corrected for gestational age at birth), neurobehavioral development was assessed with the NAPI (Neurobehavioral Assessment of the Preterm Infant) test. The authors reported that higher doses of sucrose led to lower scores for motor development and vigor (β = -2.158, 95% CI: -4.244, -0.072; *p*=0.007), and for alertness and orientation (β = -3.819, 95% CI: -6.804, -0.834; *p*=0.014) in models corrected for age at birth, severity of illness, days on caffeine treatment, and number of invasive procedures.

In addition, only one study has reported on the acute adverse metabolic effects following a single dose of sucrose. Asmerom et al.⁴¹ conducted a prospective double-blinded randomized

controlled study in preterm infants (<36.5 weeks of gestation; n=151; males 50%) undergoing heel lance for blood collection that had a central catheter in place. Infants received a dose of sucrose (24%; dose: 2mL for infants > 2 kg; 1.5mL for infants 1.5-2 kg; and 0.5mL for infants <1.5 kg) or water accompanied by a pacifier, two minutes before the heel lance. A blood sample was extracted from the central catheter before and 5 minutes after the administration of sucrose or water. Plasma hypoxanthine and uric acid concentrations, markers of hepatic fructose metabolism, increased in infants 5 minutes post-sucrose treatment, but not in those given water. These findings suggest rapid hepatic metabolism of a single dose of sucrose in preterm infants.

1.4 Sucrose Metabolism in Preterm Infants

1.4.1 Sucrose Digestion

Sucrose (beta-D-fructofuranosyl alpha-D-glucopyranoside) is a disaccharide composed of one molecule of glucose linked through an α1–4 glycosidic bond to a fructose molecule⁴². It is hydrolyzed into its monosaccharide subunits by sucrase-isomaltase (SI), a brush-border membrane enzyme located in the duodenum and jejunum of the small intestine⁴³ (Figure 1-2). The amino acid sequence of murine SI shares 78% homology with the human sequence⁴⁴. Enzymatic activity of SI has been detected in human fetus at 9-10 weeks of gestation⁴⁵.



Figure 1-2. Sucrose digestion and absorption

SI: sucrase-isomaltase enzyme, G: glucose, F: fructose, SGLT1: sodium-dependent glucose transporter-1, Na⁺: sodium, K⁺: potassium, GLUT: glucose transporter, KHK: ketohexokinase-C isoform, P: phosphate, Adapted from: Merino *et al. Nutrients*;12,94:1-35 (2020). Figure created using Servier Medical Art ®

1.4.2 Fructose and Glucose Intestinal Absorption

Glucose is absorbed via the sodium-dependent glucose transporter-1 (SGLT1) and the facilitated-diffusion glucose transporter, GLUT2. Fructose is primarily absorbed via GLUT5 and to a lesser extent, by GLUT2 (Figure 1-2).

Intestinal Sodium-dependent Glucose Transporter 1 (SGLT1)

Glucose is transported across the brush border membrane via SGLT1, a Na+-dependent transporter⁴⁶ encoded by the *SLC5A1* gene. The amino acid sequence of murine Sglt1 shares 88% homology with human SGLT1⁴⁴. The protein expression of SGLT1 has been detected in human fetal intestine at 17-20 weeks of gestation^{47, 48}. The affinity of SGLT1 for glucose is high

(K_m ~0.5mM) and it is considered the principal glucose transporter in the small intestine⁴⁹. Gorboulev et al.⁵⁰ reported a 60% reduction in plasma glucose concentrations at 10 and 15minutes post oral gavage of D-glucose (2mg/g) in *Sglt1-/-* mice compared to *Sglt1+/+* mice. Furthermore, *Sglt1-/-* mice develop severe intestinal distension and lose weight after switching from a glucose-galactose free diet to a standard diet containing glucose. *Sglt1-/-* mice also have an 80% reduction of [¹⁴C]-D-glucose in the apical brush border membrane, especially in duodenum and jejunum, and a 73% reduction in plasma glucose concentrations following oral gavage with [¹⁴C]-D-glucose compared to *Sglt1+/+* mice⁵¹. Taken together these studies suggest a primary role for SGLT1 in intestinal glucose absorption.

Solute Carrier Family 2 Member 2

Solute carrier family 2 member 2 (GLUT2; encoded by *SLC2A2*) is a glucose facilitative transporter expressed in many tissues such as liver, intestine, kidney, pancreas and brain⁵². The murine amino acid sequence shares 82% homology with humans⁴⁴. In fetal human intestine, *SLC2A2* mRNA has been detected at 11-15 weeks of gestation⁵³. In adult mice, GLUT2 is usually located in the basolateral membrane of intestinal epithelial cells and has a higher affinity for glucosamine (Km ~0.8 mM)⁵⁴ than for glucose (Km ~17mM)⁵⁴ or fructose (Km ~66mM)⁵⁵. However, an acute oral administration of glucose or sucrose (0.4mL of a 40% solution) induces a reversible rapid translocation (< 30 minutes) of GLUT2 to the apical membrane, and an upregulation of *Slc2a2* mRNA transcripts in mouse epithelial cells^{56, 57}. Following intestinal absorption, fructose and glucose are transported from the intestinal epithelial cell into the bloodstream primarily via GLUT2 that is relocated to the basolateral membrane⁵⁸ (Figure 1-2).

In mice and humans, GLUT2 is not critical for the intestinal absorption of glucose. Stümpel et al.⁵⁹ reported similar portal glucose concentrations after an intraluminal bolus of glucose (150 mg within 1 minute) was administered to isolated perfused duodenum from *Slc2a2* -/- mice and *Slc2a2* +/+ mice⁵⁹. Similarly, plasma glucose concentrations in subjects (n=3) with congenital GLUT2 deficiency (Fanconi-Bickel Syndrome) were not different compared to healthy subjects post oral glucose load $(1g/kg)^{60}$.

Solute Carrier Family 2 Member 5

Fructose is primarily transported from the intestinal lumen into the epithelial cell by the glucose facilitative transporter, solute carrier family 2 member 5 (GLUT5; encoded by *SLC2A5*)⁶¹ which has high affinity for fructose (Km ~6mM)⁶² (Figure 1-2). The amino acid sequence of murine Glut5 shares 82% homology with human⁴⁴. In human adult jejunal enterocytes, GLUT5 is located along the brush border membrane⁵³. Low levels of GLUT5 immunoreactivity have been detected in the immature midvillus region in fetal small intestine at 12 weeks of gestation compared to adult intestine, suggesting that GLUT5 is not an active transporter at this developmental stage⁵³. Similarly, expression of *Slc2a5* mRNA in the small intestine from neonatal Wistar rat pups is 11% of levels observed in the small intestine from adult rats⁶³. At weaning, *Slc2a5* mRNA increases to 22% of levels observed in adults, however, by one week post-weaning, the expression levels are similar to adult values⁶³.

To confirm the role of GLUT5 in the absorption of intestinal fructose, Barone et al.⁶¹ assessed isotopic tracing of [¹⁴C]-fructose in adult *Slc2a5* -/- mice. Membrane intestinal vesicles were isolated from jejunal mucosa of *Slc2a5* -/- and *Slc2a5* +/+ mice (n=4 per group) and incubated with [¹⁴C]-fructose for 30 seconds and uptake indices determined. Fructose uptake by

Slc2a5 -/- intestinal vesicles were ~75% lower than in Slc2a5 +/+ mice. Furthermore, in a separate study, Slc2a5 -/- and Slc2a5 +/+ mice were fed *ad libitum* with either a 60% fructose diet or an isocaloric control diet with no fructose or sucrose for 7 days, and fructose concentrations in whole blood were evaluated by fluorometry. Slc2a5 -/- mice had ~90% lower blood fructose concentrations compared to Slc2a5 +/+ mice⁶¹. Together these data indicate that GLUT5 is required for the intestinal absorption of fructose.

Fructose absorption is stimulated by co-ingesting glucose, likely due to the stimulation and faster translocation of GLUT2 to the apical membrane⁶⁴. Furthermore, ingestion of pure fructose solutions can cause intestinal malabsorption. A crossover study in adults (age 25-51 years; n=10; 70% males) given different doses of fructose (15 g, 25 g, 37.5 g, 50 g) reported that fructose malabsorption (determined by breath hydrogen excretion test) was present in 50% of the subjects when given 25 g fructose and this increased to 80% when the subjects were given the 50g fructose dose. In contrast, there was no malabsorption when the subjects were given higher doses of sucrose (50g, 75g, 100g)⁶⁵. Similarly, a study in Sprague-Dawley adult rats (n=8 per group, sex unspecified) reported greater fructose malabsorption (breath and flatus hydrogen excretion test) with oral fructose doses higher than 0.4g. However, when fructose was given in combination with glucose (1:1), doses greater than 0.8g did not produce malabsorption⁶⁶. These findings suggest that, the administration of fructose as a monosaccharide may not be absorbed by the small intestine in humans or rats and that glucose promotes complete fructose absorption when given in equal amounts.

1.4.3 Fructose and Glucose Metabolism in the Liver

Glucose Metabolism

After intestinal absorption, dietary glucose is metabolized by both the liver and peripheral tissues through insulin-dependent metabolic pathways. It is estimated that the human liver extracts 15-30% of an oral glucose load (1g/kg) from the portal vein via GLUT2⁶⁷. In hepatocytes, glucose is phosphorylated by glucokinase to glucose-6-phosphate which can be directed to three main pathways: glycolysis, glycogenesis, or the pentose phosphate pathway⁶⁸. During the fed state, glycolysis is the principal fate of dietary glucose⁶⁸. Phosphofructokinase-1 (PFK-1), the enzyme that catalyzes the irreversible conversion of fructose-6-phosphate to fructose-1,6-biphosphate in the glycolytic pathway, is considered the main rate-limiting step due to its high regulation by intracellular adenosine triphosphate (ATP), adenosine monophosphate (AMP), lactate, and citrate (Figure 1-3)⁶⁹. Furthermore, fructose 2,6 bisphosphate (F2,6BP), a metabolite produced by the enzyme phosphofructokinase-2 that also utilizes fructose-6-phosphate as a substrate and is stimulated by insulin and inhibited by glucagon, is a potent allosteric activator of PFK-1⁷⁰. Therefore, PFK-1 is tightly controlled in cells.

Pyruvate, the product of the glycolytic pathway, can be reduced to lactate or enter the mitochondria to be oxidized to Acetyl Coenzyme A (Acetyl CoA). This metabolite can enter to the citric acid cycle (TCA) pathway or can return to the cytosol to be irreversible carboxylate to malonyl-CoA by acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) and activate *de novo* fatty acid synthesis. This process takes place in the cytosol and involves two key enzymes, ACC and fatty-acid synthase (FASN) that creates a molecule of palmitic acid (a 16-long carbon chain fatty acid)⁷¹. Fatty acids are esterified to glycerol to form triglycerides, that can be stored in the hepatocyte or assembled into very low density lipoproteins (VLDL) and transported to extra-hepatic tissues (Figure 1-3)⁶⁸.

Sterol regulatory element binding protein-1c (SREBP-1c) and Carbohydrate-responsive element-binding protein (ChREBP)⁷² are two main transcriptional factors that work synergically and upregulate lipogenic genes such as stearoyl-CoA desaturase 1, ACC and FASN⁷³. Glycolytic metabolites, such as glucose-6-phosphate and xylulose 5-phosphate, activate the domain glucose-response activation conserved element (GRACE) in a ChREBP region that stimulates its translocation to the nucleus⁷³. The activation of SREBP-1c depends on the activation of the mammalian target of rapamycin complex 1 (mTORC1) induced by insulin; however, experimental studies in mice demonstrated that fructose consumption, which does not stimulate insulin release, also upregulates SREBP-1c⁷⁴, thus, the upregulatory mechanism of both transcriptional factor are still under investigation⁷⁵.

Fructose Metabolism

The metabolism of fructose takes place in the small intestine and liver (Figure 1-2 and 1-3). While low amounts of fructose (<0.5 g/kg) are metabolized to glucose and organic acids mostly in jejunum, higher doses (0.5-2 g/kg) are transported to the portal circulation and enter the liver⁷⁶ primarily via GLUT2⁷⁷. One of the main differences between fructose and glucose hepatic metabolism is that fructose bypasses two glycolytic regulators: glucokinase and PFK-1. Glucokinase (GK) is the first enzyme in the glycolytic pathway and is usually sequestered in the nucleus by the glucokinase regulatory protein (GKRP) during the fasting state. In the presence of dietary glucose or fructose, GK is dissociated from GHRP and is transported to the cytosol to metabolize glucose⁷⁸. Fructose on the other hand, is phosphorylated to fructose 1-phosphate exclusively by the enzyme fructokinase also known as ketohexokinase isoform C (KHK-C) that is located in the cytosol without any regulatory protein, hormonal/allosteric regulators or any
negative feedback system, therefore, KHK-C is able to metabolize fructose rapidly⁷⁷. Fructose is then metabolized to dihydroxyacetone phosphate and D-glyceraldehyde by aldolase B and those metabolites enter to the triose kinase pathway and provide substrates for *de novo* lipogenesis (Figure 1-3)^{79,80}. Fructose also bypasses the principal glycolytic regulatory enzyme PFK-1, suggesting that fructose metabolism is not sensitive to the energy status of the cell⁸¹. Dietary fructose activates SREBP1c and ChREBP, important transcription factors that regulate lipogenic gene expression, to a greater extent than dietary glucose. Male Sprague-Dawley rats fed a high-fructose diet (60%/weight) for 2 weeks had 2.2-fold greater liver *Srebp1c* nuclear protein abundance and a 3.3-fold increase in Chrebp DNA binding compared to rats fed a high glucose diet (60% weight)^{74,82}. These studies indicate that fructose metabolism bypasses rate-limiting enzymes and rapidly upregulates lipogenic genes and provides substrates for *de novo* lipogenesis.

Another difference between fructose and glucose metabolism is the increased production of uric acid. The rapid metabolism of fructose depletes intracellular levels of ATP and increases AMP, thereby producing an upregulation of the enzyme adenosine monophosphate deaminase that ultimately generates uric acid⁸³. Fructose metabolism also inhibits to a greater extent, the key transcriptional factor peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPARα), that upregulates several enzymes involved in β-oxidation of fatty acids such as carnitine palmitoyltransferase I and II and acyl-CoA synthetase⁸⁴. Roglans et al.⁸⁵ reported that adult male Sprague-Dawley rats (n=8 per group) that received a 10% fructose solution *ad libitum* for 2 weeks had lower hepatic mRNA expression of *Pparα* and increased plasma and hepatic triglyceride concentrations compared to rats that received *ad libitum* 10% glucose solution or tap water^{85, 86}.



Figure 1-3. Fructose and glucose metabolism in the liver

ACC1: acetyl-CoA carboxylase, ADP: adenosine diphosphate, AMP: adenosine monophosphate, ATP: adenosine triphosphate, F: fructose, G: glucose, GPDH: glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, G3P: glycerol-3-phosphate, G3P-O-A: glycerol-3-phosphate -O- acyltransferase, PKLR: pyruvate kinase, TKFC: triokinase, VLDL: very-low-density lipoproteins.

Adapted from: Mayes *et al. Am J Clin Nutr*; 58: 754S-765S (1993); Rui L. *Compr Physiol*; 4(1): 177-197 (2014). Figure created using Servier Medical Art ®

1.4.3.1 Carbohydrate-dependent Fibroblast Growth Factor-21 Stimulation

Fibroblast Growth Factor 21 (FGF21) is a hormone primarily produced in the liver⁸⁷ and to a lesser extent in adipocytes⁸⁸ and skeletal muscle⁸⁹ and has gained attention in recent years due to its metabolic effects in animal models and humans including body weight reduction and glycemic control⁹⁰. The common pathway that stimulates FGF21 expression is through the lipolytic transcriptional factor PPAR*α*, which is released in response to fasting or ketogenic diets⁹¹. However, FGF21 upregulation also occurs in response to dietary carbohydrates, particularly fructose. Lundsgaard et al.⁹² reported in a randomized cross-over study that healthy males (n=9) fed a hypercaloric carbohydrate-rich diet (80% energy [83% complex carbohydrates and 16% added sugar]) for 3 days had 7-fold higher plasma FGF21 concentrations compared to levels when they were fed a hypercaloric fat-rich diet (80% energy, no added sugar). Similarly, C57BL/6 mice (age 8 weeks) fed a high-sucrose diet (38.5% of carbohydrates) for 15 weeks had 15-fold higher plasma Fgf21 concentrations, gained less weight, and had greater energy expenditure compared to mice fed a standard diet without sucrose⁹³.

Glucose- or fructose-mediated FGF21 stimulation depends on the transcriptional factor ChREBP. A 5-fold increase in *Fgf21* mRNA was observed in primary hepatocytes from 6-week old male rats overexpressing *Chrebp* ⁹⁴. Under high glucose conditions (25mM), a 70% reduction in *Fgf21* mRNA was observed in cells with siRNA targeted *Chrebp* knockdown. No differences in hepatic Fgf21 expression and plasma Fgf21 concentrations were observed in *Chrebp* -/- gavaged with fructose and *Chrebp* +/+ mice gavaged with water⁹⁵. In contrast, hepatic Fgf21 expression and plasma Fgf21 concentrations increased in *Chrebp* +/+ mice gavaged with fructose compared to those gavaged with water. These studies suggest that increases in FGF21 by dietary fructose and glucose is dependent on ChREBP activity.

1.4.3.2 Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 Signaling and FGF21 Blockage of STAT5 in the Liver

Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 (IGF-1), a small peptide consisting of 70 amino acids that shares 40% homology with proinsulin⁹⁶, is produced in response to growth hormone (GH)⁹⁷. Liver-derived IGF-1 acts in an endocrine manner and is the main source of circulating IGF-1⁹⁸; whereas locally produced IGF-1 in other tissues acts in an autocrine/paracrine manner⁹⁹. The GH/IGF-1 axis is responsible for 80% of growth in mammals¹⁰⁰. The pulsatile production of GH in the anterior pituitary gland is tightly regulated by multiple factors including hormones, nutrients, and neuropeptides¹⁰¹, and the GH actions in the body are mediated by IGF-1⁹⁹. In circulation, IGF-1 is associated with IGF Binding Protein 3 and Acid Labile Subunit (ALS). This forms a complex of 150 kilodaltons¹⁰² that modulates IGF-1 stability and protects it from proteolytic degradation (Figure 1-4).

The binding of GH with GH receptor activates the phosphorylation of Janus Kinase (JAK) 2 in the cytoplasm that initiates a signalling cascade within the cell¹⁰³. The docking site produced by JAK2 recruits different proteins including shc-transforming protein, insulin receptor substrate, protein kinase C phospholipase activators, intracellular calcium and signal transducers and activators of transcription (STATs)¹⁰⁴. The main transcriptional activator of IGF-1 is STAT5b (Figure1-4)^{105, 106}. *Stat5b-/-* mice have a 60% reduction in liver *Igf1* mRNA expression, 30% reduction in serum Igf-1 concentrations, and are 30% smaller than *Stat5b+/+* mice^{107, 108}. Congenital defects in *STAT5B* cause severe growth failure and IGF-1 deficiency¹⁰⁹.

Suppressors of cytokine signalling (SOCS) are a family of proteins that downregulate growth factors that utilize the JAK/STAT signalling cascades¹¹⁰. Of these, SOCS2 plays a key role in the suppression of STAT5b phosphorylation¹¹¹. Mice that are *Socs2 -/-* have gigantism at

12 weeks of age¹¹². Studies in chondrogenic ATDC5 cells demonstrated that overexpression of SOCS2 greatly inhibits STAT5b phosphorylation in response to growth hormone¹¹³, suggesting the negative regulatory function of SOCS2 is considered critical to the regulation of IGF-1. Recent studies have demonstrated that FGF21 is able to stimulate SOCS2 mRNA and protein expression and inhibit longitudinal growth as a consequence¹¹⁴. Male and female mice overexpressing FGF21 (*Fgf21-tg*) gained ~40-60% less weight, had smaller tibias, and lower serum IGF-1 concentrations than wild-type mice. This was accompanied by lower Stat5 phosphorylation and greater expression of Socs2 in liver.



Figure 1-4. Growth hormone signalling in the liver

Growth hormone (GH) is stimulated by the action of growth hormone-releasing hormone (GHRH) and ghrelin and inhibited by somatostatin. Throughout the day, GH is released in a pulsatile manner. In the liver, the binding of GH to the GH receptor (GHR) generates an intracellular cascade that upregulate the transcriptional factor STAT5b initiating the release of insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1). The binding of fibroblast growth factor 1 (FGF21) to its receptor upregulates the transcription of the suppressor of cytokine signalling 2 (SOCS2) that inhibit the action of STAT5b. In circulation, IGF-1 is found in a ternary complex with the acid labile subunit (ALS) and IGF Binding protein 3 (IGFBP3) that stabilize the molecule. JAK: Janus kinase. P: phosphate molecule. FGFR: Fibroblast growth receptor. IGF1R: IGF-1 receptor. Adapted from: Argente J *et al. EMBO Mol Med*; 9: 1338-1345 (2017). Figure created using Servier Medical Art ®

1.5 Cardiometabolic Disease Risk

1.5.1 Preterm Birth and Cardiometabolic Disease Risk

Preterm infants are at greater risk for cardiometabolic diseases, such as obesity and type 2 diabetes, later in life compared to term infants¹¹⁵. This may be due to the adaptive responses of preterm infants for growth and survival away from the uterus despite insufficient energy reserves and immature organs¹¹⁶.

Several epidemiological studies have reported associations between preterm birth and cardiometabolic disease. For example, in a longitudinal cohort of young adults (mean age 23 years) from Northern Finland, preterm birth <34 weeks of gestation (n=134; 48.5% males) was associated with higher risk of obesity (OR 2.4, 95%CI: 1.2-4.9; p=0.01), hypertension (OR 2.4, 95%CI:1.1-5.3; p=0.03) and increased waist-hip ratio (mean difference to full term birth 1.7, 95%CI:0.6-2.9; p=0.03) compared to infants born at 34-36 weeks of gestation (n=242; 49.6%) males) and >37 weeks of gestation (n=344; 48.8% males)¹¹⁷. This study excluded adults born small for gestational age. Kaijser et al.¹¹⁸ conducted a prospective study in Sweden that followed individuals (n=6,425; 59% males) for 20 years (from 1987-2006); 15% were born preterm (<32 weeks of gestation) and using data from hospital registries reported that those born small for gestational age and preterm had a greater risk of type 2 diabetes at a mean age of 60.9 ± 8.2 (HR 1.67, 95%CI: 1.33-2.11) compared to those born at full term. Further, Markopoulou et al.¹¹⁹ conducted a meta-analysis of 43 studies that included preterm born adults (<37 weeks of gestation, n=18,295; 88% males) and full term born adults (37-42 weeks of gestation, n=294,063; 96% males) and reported that preterm born adults had higher percentage of fat mass (+1.5%; 95%CI: 0.1-2.8; *p*=0.03), systolic blood pressure (+4.22mm Hg; 95%CI: 2.9-5.4; p<0.0001), diastolic blood pressure (+2.24mm HG;95%CI: 1.22-3.31; p<0.0001), fasting blood

glucose (+0.07 mmol/L;95%CI: 0.02-0.13; p=0.01), and fasting insulin (+16%;95%CI: 6-26; p<0.002) compared to term born adults. When adults born small for gestation age were excluded, the associations were still significant.

1.5.2 Sucrose Consumption and Cardiometabolic Risk

Human colostrum/milk are the first choice of nutrition for preterm infants^{120, 121}. The World Health Organization and Health Canada recommends that infants should be exclusively breastfeed for the first 6 months of life^{122, 123}. The main disaccharide in human milk is lactose¹²⁴. Sucrose is not present in human milk, and only one study has detected extremely low levels of fructose (7µg/mL) in human milk (n=25) from women with full-term babies at age 1 month¹²⁵.

The American Heart Association recommends that children aged <2 years should not consume added sugars¹²⁶. The early introduction of non-milk and sugar-sweetened substances to infants younger than 6 months may increase the risk of obesity and discourage the acceptance of high-quality bitter or sour foods such as green-leaf vegetables later in life¹²⁷. To date, there are no published epidemiological studies on the relationship between early consumption of sucrose by preterm infants and cardiometabolic disease risk; however, there are several studies in older children.

A cross-sectional study of children in upstate New York aged 2-5 years (n=168; 53% males) reported that children that consumed more than 12 oz of fruit juice per day (estimated by 7-day dietary records) were shorter (95.6 cm vs 98.9 cm; p=0.001) and had higher BMI (17.2 kg/m² vs 16.3 kg/m²; p=0.0001) than children that consumed less than 12 oz per day¹²⁸. Secondary cross-sectional analysis of children aged 4.5 years (n=1,549) in the Longitudinal Study of Child Development in Quebec reported that higher sugar-sweetened beverage

consumption between meals (estimated by food frequency questionnaire) was associated with overweight (OR 2.1, 95%CI:1.0-4.7; p<0.05) in the children¹²⁹. Greater added sugar in the diet (estimated by two 24-hour recalls) was associated with higher diastolic blood pressure (β = 0.0206; p=0.04) and higher serum triglycerides (β = 0.1090; p=0.02) in a secondary analysis of children aged 7-12 years (n=320; 53% males) that were in the Admixture Mapping of Ethnic and Racial Insulin Complex Outcomes cross-sectional study¹³⁰. Cross-sectional analyses of children aged 8-10 years (n=632; 54% males) with overweight (defined as a BMI ≥85th percentile for age and sex) that are part of the Quebec Adipose and Lifestyle Investigation in Youth Study found that every 100mL of sugar-sweetened beverage consumed (estimated by three 24-hour recalls) was associated with 0.1-unit higher HOMA-IR (β = 0.097; p=0.009) and higher systolic blood pressure (β = 1.109; p=0.001)¹³¹.

1.6 Choline and Growth and Development

Choline is an essential nutrient that is required for membrane structure, cell signalling, lipid metabolism, methylation, and brain development¹³². Choline metabolism can be divided into four main pathways that ultimately generate the following metabolites: phosphatidylcholine, acetylcholine, betaine, and trimethylamine (Figure 1-5)¹³³. The metabolism of trimethylamine is beyond the scope of this thesis and will not be covered here as it occurs mainly in the small intestine through anaerobic microbial metabolism¹³⁴.

The generation of phosphatidylcholine is the principal metabolic fate of choline and occurs in all nucleated cells in the body¹³⁵. Phosphatidylcholine is the most abundant phospholipid (>50%) in mammalian cellular membranes, and is critical for growth and development¹³⁵. In addition, phosphatidylcholine is the main component required for the export

of hepatic triglycerides throughout the assembly of VLDL in the liver¹³⁵. In fact, cholinedeficient diets or reduced phosphatidylcholine synthesis in rats, impair the secretion of VLDL and induce hepatic steatosis and thereby reduced plasma triglycerides concentrations^{135, 136}. Moreover, further metabolism of phosphatidylcholine can generate sphingomyelin, a critical sphingolipid during brain development that ensures myelin integrity and axon maturation¹³⁷.

The synthesis of phosphatidylcholine occurs predominantly through the CDP-choline pathway and begins with the phosphorylation of free choline to phosphocholine by choline kinase. Phosphocholine is further metabolized to cytidine diphosphate-choline by cytidyltransferase, followed by conversion to phosphatidylcholine in a final reaction catalyzed by choline phosphotransferase¹³⁵ (Figure 1-5). In addition, phosphatidylcholine can also be endogenously synthesized in the liver through the sequential methylation of phosphatidylethanolamine using three methyl groups from S-adenosylmethionine catalyzed by phosphatidylethanolamine methyltransferase¹³⁵.

Acetylcholine is a major neurotransmitter in the cholinergic system synthesized from the acetylation of choline by choline acetyltransferase. It is essential for memory and learning through the enhancement of feedforward mechanisms in cortical circuits¹³⁸, and for pain modulation and cognition. Cholinergic nerve cells obtain choline for the generation of acetylcholine via: 1) uptake of circulating choline that crosses the blood-brain barrier¹³⁹, 2) the release of phosphatidylcholine from brain membranes^{140, 141}; and 3) the recycling of liberated acetylcholine¹⁴². Interestingly, in rat brain striatum cells, over stimulation of acetylcholine can deplete structural phospholipids and phosphatidylcholine in membrane reserves when cultured in choline-free medium¹⁴⁰. Thus, early postnatal exposure to sucrose could potentially compromise

brain structure and neurodevelopment because of choline metabolism and effects on acetylcholine utilization.

Choline can be irreversibly oxidized to betaine by betaine-homocysteine Smethyltransferase (BHMT) in the liver and kidney¹⁴³. Betaine can serve as a methyl donor for the remethylation of homocysteine to methionine (Figure 1-5). The role of choline as a source of methyl groups, through betaine, is metabolically related to the folate and vitamin B12 (Figure 1-5)¹³³. Betaine can also serve as an osmolyte¹⁴³.



Figure 1-5. Overview of choline metabolism

ChAT: choline acetyltransferase, CHDH: choline dehydrogenase, CK: choline kinase, CT: cytidyltransferase, CPT: choline phosphotransferase, SMS: sphingomyelin synthase, BADH: betaine aldehyde dehydrogenase, BHMT: betaine-homocysteine methyltransferase, MS: methionine synthase, THF: tetrahydrofolate, SHMT: serine hydroxymethyltransferase, 5,10-MTHF: 5,10-methylenetetrahydrofolate, MTHFR: methylenetetrahydrofolate reductase, 5-MTHF: 5-methyltetrahydrofolate.

Adapted from: Wiedeman et al. Nutrients; 10, 1513 (2018).

Chapter 2: Rationale and Hypothesis

Preterm infants usually require hospitalization in the NICU, where they undergo several life-saving, skin-breaking procedures. Depending on the gestational age at birth, preterm infants can receive up to 400 painful procedures over the course of hospitalization³⁸. Untreated pain is associated with adverse effects on neurodevelopment⁸. Thus, it is unethical to not provide any type of analgesia to infants¹⁴⁴.

Oral sucrose is the non-pharmacological standard of care used to manage pain from minor medical procedures²⁶. During hospitalization, a preterm infant receives on average between 10-23 painful procedures per day⁵ putting them at risk of receiving cumulative amounts of sucrose. For example: if a 2.2 lb (1,000g) preterm infant is given the recommended dose of 0.5-1.0 mL of 24% sucrose for each of 10 procedures/day, this is equivalent to giving 4 tablespoons of sugar (22g) per day to a 22 lb (10kg) toddler³⁷. Preterm infants are at risk for cardiometabolic disease, such as obesity, hypertension and type 2 diabetes, later in life^{117, 118}. Furthermore, the excessive consumption of sucrose in the form of sugar-sweetened beverages in children, is associated with higher body mass index, dyslipidemia, and decreased pancreatic ß cell function^{128, 130, 145}. This suggests that there may be long term adverse metabolic effects of neonatal sucrose treatment on preterm infants. No studies have evaluated the long-term effects of neonatal sucrose treatments on cardiometabolic health.

In mice and preterm infants, the early and repetitive sucrose treatment has detrimental effects on regional brain growth³⁹ and neurodevelopment^{38, 40}. It is unknown if there are also long-term alterations on overall body growth. As previously described, choline and its metabolites have critical roles in growth and brain development; moreover, choline is also involved in lipid metabolism in the liver and the fructose component of sucrose activates several

lipogenic pathways. It is not known if neonatal repeated sucrose treatment has long-lasting consequences on choline metabolism.

I hypothesize that there are long-term adverse metabolic effects of early and repeated sucrose treatment during the neonatal period. To test this hypothesis, I conducted studies in a mouse model of neonatal sucrose treatment^{39, 40}. Neonatal mice constitute an appropriate animal model to study human prematurity because they are born neurologically and intestinally immature, and the first week of life in a mouse pup corresponds to \sim 24-32 weeks of gestation in humans^{146, 147}.

I addressed three aims in my thesis research that determined the long-term effects of neonatal sucrose treatment on:

- 1. Body growth and adiposity.
- 2. Glucose homeostasis.
- 3. Hepatic water-soluble choline metabolites.

Chapter 3: Materials and Methods

3.1 Experimental Design

All animal procedures were approved by the Animal Care (certificate # A17-0115) and Biosafety (certificate #B18-0029) Committees of the University of British Columbia and conforms to the Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines.

Six-week-old female and male C57BL6/J mice were purchased from Centre for Molecular Medicine and Therapeutics mouse colony at BCCHRI. Mice were fed a control diet (D12450K Research Diets, New Brunswick, NJ, USA; diet composition in Table 3-1) and had *ad libitum* access to food and water. They were housed under a standard 12-hour light-dark cycle.

Nutrient	Caloric Distribution (% of total energy)	Formulation	(g/kg)
Protein	20%	Casein	200
		L-Cystine	3
Carbohydrate	70%	Corn Starch	550
		Lodex 10	150
		Sucrose	4
Fiber		Solka Floc FCC200	50
Fat	10%	Soybean Oil	25
		Lard	20
Mineral Mix	-	S10026B	50
Vitamin Mix	-	V10001C	1
		Choline Bitartrate	2
Energy density	3.82 Kcal/g		

Table 3-1. Maternal and post-weaning diet composition

Mineral mix: monohydrate potassium citrate, dibasic calcium phosphate, calcium carbonate, sodium chloride, magnesium sulfate, magnesium oxide, ferric citrate, manganese carbonate hydrate, zinc carbonate, chromium potassium sulfate, copper carbonate, ammonium molybdate tetrahydrate, sodium fluoride, sodium selenite, potassium iodate. *Vitamin mix:* Vitamin E acetate, niacin, biotin, pantothenic acid, vitamin D3, vitamin B12, vitamin A acetate, pyridoxine HCl, riboflavin, thiamine HCl, folic acid, menadione sodium bisulfite.

After one week of acclimation, female mice were bred with age-matched male mice; pregnancy was confirmed via a vaginal plug and males were removed from the cage. To optimize survival and reduce cannibalism of mouse pups, pregnant females were then co-housed with a virgin CD-1 female mouse until the weaning of mouse pups (Figure 3-1). In a previous study, cohousing of C57BL6/J dams with virgin CD-1 females reduced pup stress and improved survival rate³⁹.

On the day of birth (postnatal day 0, P0), pups were tattooed using a commercial paste (#329A Ketchum Manufacturing INC) for identification purposes. Neonatal female and male pups were randomly assigned to receive one of five treatments: a) sham (only handled); b) sterile water; c) 24% w/v sucrose (#S7903, Sigma); d) 24% w/v fructose (#F2543, Sigma); or e) 24% w/v glucose (#G7528, Sigma). Given that sucrose is a disaccharide of fructose and glucose⁴², and each monosaccharide is metabolized differently, I included groups of mice treated with fructose or glucose to investigate if the individual monosaccharide components had biological effects. One pup per sex per litter was assigned to each treatment; treatment groups did not contain littermates. Pups received 10 oral treatments per day between 8:00 AM to 6:00 PM from P1 to P6 (7 days total). Solutions were administrated into the inner cheek of the pup using a single-channel pipette. The dosage was calculated daily so that the pups received 0.2mg sucrose (or glucose or fructose)/g body weight to mimic what it is given to preterm infants at the NICU^{26, 39}.

Treatments were performed on a heating pad to avoid any heat loss. Each intervention was spaced by 60 minutes to allow recovery and suckling of mouse pups. Treatments were performed in a separate room from the nursing dams to avoid stress due to pup vocalizations. Treated mouse pups were rubbed with nursing female odour before being returned to the dam after each treatment.

At three weeks of age, female and male pups weaned onto the control diet (Table 3-1). Mice were housed by sex in groups of 5 mice/cage and had *ad libitum* access to water and food for the duration of the study. Physiological assessments of glucose homeostasis (described below in section 3.7) were assessed at weaning and 1-3 weeks before euthanasia. At the end of the feeding period, 16-week-old female and male mice were fasted for 5 hours and euthanized by cervical dislocation after isoflurane anesthesia. Blood was collected via cardiac puncture under deep anesthesia and tissues were harvested and snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen for storage at -80°C until further analysis. An overview of the research design is depicted in Figure 3-1.



Figure 3-1. Research design overview

IPGTT: Intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test, IPITT: Intraperitoneal insulin tolerance test, GSIS: Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion test.

3.2 Assessment of Growth

Body weight was measured daily from P0-P21; and weekly from weaning until the end of the experiment using a calibrated scale (0.01g).

Body Composition was quantified at age 13 weeks by quantitative magnetic resonance technology (EchoMRI-100 Echo Medical Systems, Houston, TX) which distinguishes fat mass, lean mass and body free fluid based on relaxation times of the hydrogen density¹⁴⁸. The EchoMRI machine is located in the BCCHRI animal unit and is part of Dr William Gibson's (BCCHRI Scientist; Professor UBC Medical Genetics) laboratory. Each animal was scanned twice and the average of the two scans was used to calculate the percentage of lean and fat mass. *Nose to anus length* was measured from the tip of the nose to the tail base on the day of euthanasia under deep anesthesia and before cervical dislocation.

Tibia Length was measured after the removal of non-bone tissue with 2% KOH¹⁴⁹. Tibias were measured three times using a digital caliper (# 01407A Neiko Stainless Steel, USA). These analyses were conducted in collaboration with Paula Littlejohn (PhD Student, Finlay Lab, UBC Michael Smith Laboratories).

3.3 Serum IGF-1 and FGF21

Blood was collected via cardiac puncture and allowed to clot for 30 minutes on ice followed by centrifugation (4°C for 10 minutes at 8,000 rpm) to separate serum. Serum was divided into 100µL aliquots and stored at -80°C until further analyses. Serum IGF-1 and FGF21 concentrations were quantified by Mouse/Rat IGF-1 ELISA (22-IG1MS-E01 ALPCO Diagnostics) and Mouse/Rat FGF21 ELISA (EZRMFGF21-26K EMD Millipore Corporation) as per manufacturer's instructions. Assays were performed on serum samples that had not been freeze-thawed.

3.4 Gene Expression

Total RNA was extracted from frozen liver tissue using the AllPrep DNA/RNA Mini kit (#80204 QIAGEN) as per manufacturer's instructions with the addition of on-column-DNase digestion to ensure removal of genomic DNA. RNA concentration was assessed using a Nanodrop spectrophotometer and purity was confirmed by a 260nM/280nM absorbance ratio between 1.9 and 2.1. RNA integrity was assessed by visual observation of 18s and 28s ribosomal RNA bands using agarose gel electrophoresis.

Total RNA (500 ng) was reverse transcribed using the cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (#4368814, Applied Biosystems). Liver *Igf-1* and *Fgf21* mRNA levels were quantified by TaqMan® real time quantitative PCR (fluorogenic probe) using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method of relative quantification¹⁵⁰. Pre-design 5' nuclease probe qPCR assays specific for murine *Igf-1* (Mm00439560_m1; ThermoFisher Scientific), *Fgf21* (Mm.PT.58.29365871.g; Integrated DNA Technologies) and the endogenous control *Hmbs* (Mm.PT.39a.22214827; Integrated DNA Technologies) were used. Each sample was run in duplicate to examine intra-assay variability and repeated in two plates to measure inter-assay variation. Negative controls (no RNA) were always nondetectable.

Gene	Forward (5'-3')	Reverse (5'-3')	Probe (5'-3')	Exon
Iof_1	TCTTCAGTTCGTGTGTGGA	TCCAGCATTCGGAGGGCAC	GGGCTTTTACTTCAACAAGCCC	2-3
18/1			ACAGGCT	
Fof21	CAGCCTTAGTGTCTTCTCAGC	GGGATGGGTCAGGTTCAGA	TCAACACAGGAGAAACAGCCA	1-1
1821			TTCACT	
Hmbs	AAAGATGAGGGTGATTCGAGTG	AAGAATCTTGTCTCCCGTGG	CAGTGTCGGTCTGTATGCGAG	2-4
lintos			CC	

Table 3-2. Nuclease probe qPCR assays

3.5 Immunoblot

Frozen rectus femoris (~ 50 mg) was homogenized in 500μL of cold 1X PBS followed by centrifugation (4°C for 30 seconds at 8,000 rpm). The supernatant was discarded, and the tissue was resuspended in 500μL of lysis buffer, consisting of RIPA buffer (# R0278 Sigma) and protease inhibitor cocktail (#45000 Santa Cruz Biotechnology). Samples were homogenized with stainless steel beads and sonicated on ice for three 15-second pulses at 40% amplitude. Tissue lysates were then centrifuged (4°C for 10 minutes at 8,000 rpm) and the supernatant was stored at -80°C. Protein was quantified by the Bradford Protein Assay¹⁵¹ using Quick StartTM dye reagent (# 5000205 Bio-Rad).

Samples (20µg protein) were mixed with a loading buffer (consisting of 950 µL 2x Laemmli buffer (#1610737 Bio-Rad) and 50 µL β-mercaptoethanol) and boiled for 5 minutes at 95°C. The samples were resolved on 10% polyacrylamide gels (consisting of 4% stacking gel and 10% resolving gel). The gel was run at 80V for 15 minutes followed by 110V for 100 minutes. The gels contained the following: dH₂O, Tris Base (Roche), 30% Bis Acrylamide solution (Bio-Rad), 10% SDS (Invitrogen), 10% APS (Sigma), and TEMED (Bio-Rad). The following ladders and standards were run on each gel: 10µL Precision Plus ProteinTM (# 1610374 Bio-Rad) and 10µL Unstained Protein Standard *Strep*-tagged (#1610363 Bio-Rad)

The proteins were electrotransferred for 100 minutes at 110V from the gels to polyvinylidene difluoride membranes at 4°C using an ice-cold transfer buffer [dH₂0, Tris base (Roche), glycine (Invitrogen), methanol (ThermoFisher)]. The successful transfer was confirmed by visualization of protein bands with Ponceau S staining solution (PON002.1 BioShop). The membrane was then washed twice in a Tris-Buffered Saline (20mM Tris base, 250mM NaCl) +

0.1% Tween-20 solution (TBST) and blocked for 1 hour at room temperature in 5% skim milk in TBST.

After blocking, the membrane was rinsed three times with TBST (15, 5, 5 minutes) and incubated overnight at 4°C on rocker with the primary antibodies: a) polyclonal rabbit anti-IGF1R β (#3027 Cell Signaling) at a 1:1000 dilution in 5% BSA TBST; or b) the loading control monoclonal rabbit anti- α -Tubulin (#2125S Cell Signaling) at a 1:1000 dilution in 5% BSA TBST. This was followed by incubation with the secondary antibody, HRP-linked anti-rabbit IgG (#7074 Cell Signaling), at a 1:3000 dilution in 5% skim milk in TBST and HRP-conjugated StrepTactin to detect the protein standard (1:50000 dilution) and kept for 1 hour at room temperature on the rocker. Membranes where washed three times with TBST (15, 5, 5 minutes) and incubated for 5 minutes with a chemiluminescent substrate 1:4 v/v (SuperSignalTM West Pico PLUS. #34579; ThermoFisher Scientific). The membranes were exposed for 10 minutes to X-ray film and the relative protein density was quantified using Image J¹⁵² and normalized to the loading control.

3.6 Histological Analysis of Jejunum

The small intestine was collected on the day of euthanasia and placed in ice cold 1X PBS; length was measured from the pyloric sphincter to the ileocecal valve. Three cross sections of different parts of the jejunum (at 3, 8 and 13 cm from the pyloric sphincter) were fixed in 10% formalin (#HT501128 Sigma-Aldrich) overnight at 4°C and then paraffin-embedded. Tissues were cut into 5µm sections. Tissue sections with >80% of cross section intact on slides were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (by the Histology Core at BCCHRI) and viewed with a brightfield on the optical microscope (Olympus BX61©). At least 20 villi lengths and 20 crypt

depths per mouse were examined and quantified using OlyVIA 2.9© software at 180X magnification.

3.7 Glucose Homeostasis

Glucose tolerance was assessed at ages 3 and 13 weeks by intraperitoneal (IP) glucose tolerance test, and insulin sensitivity was assessed by IP insulin tolerance test at ages 4 and 14 weeks. After a 5 hour fast, an IP injection of D-dextrose (1g/kg body weight in 0.9% NaCl) or insulin (0.75 U/kg body weight in 1X PBS) was given to the mice and blood glucose was quantified at baseline, 15 min, 30 min, 60 min, 90 min and 120 min post-injection using a glucometer (OneTouch Verio ® meter, LifeScan IP Holdings, LLC).

Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion, an *in vivo* indicator of beta-cell function, was measured in adult mice at 15 weeks. After a 5 hour fast, mice were given an IP injection of Ddextrose (1g/kg body weight in 0.9% NaCl) and blood samples were collected by tail snip at baseline and from the saphenous vein at 2, 15 and 30 minutes post injection. Blood samples were allowed to clot and centrifuged (4°C for 10 minutes at 8,000 rpm) to collect serum; the serum was stored at -80°C. Insulin was quantified by a commercial ELISA kit (80-INSMSU-E01 ALPCO Diagnostics).

3.8 Liver Choline Metabolites

Liver water-soluble choline metabolites (free choline, phosphocholine, glycerophosphocholine and betaine) were quantified by high-performance liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) using stable isotope-labeled internal standards. Frozen liver tissue (15mg) was homogenized in 1500µL of dH₂O. Ten microliters of

the homogenate (equivalent to 100µg of liver) was transferred to a 1.7mL centrifuge tube, and proteins precipitated with 600µL acetonitrile. Samples were vortexed and centrifuged (4°C for 10 minutes at 20,000 g) and 400µL of the supernatant was transferred to a vial along with 400µL of dH₂O. Samples were run on a Acquity H-class UHPLC and Xevo TQS triple quadrupole mass spectrometer (Waters) with an Agilent Rx-Sil 2.1 X 150mm (# 883700-901 ZORBAX Rx-SIL) column using a hydrophilic interaction chromatographic approach with a binary mobile phase consisting of a) acetronitrile/2% dH₂O with 5mM ammonium formate and 0.1% formic acid; and b) 5mM ammonium formate in dH₂O with 0.1% formic acid. A gradient 70% to 8% acetonitrile over 5 minutes was used to separate the water-soluble choline metabolites before returning to initial conditions. Data were analysed using the Target Lynx software (Waters) and the area of unlabeled analytes to deuterium-labeled internal standards ratios were calculated and compared to known standard curves developed in the lab. Deuterium-labeled internal standards, d9-betaine, d9-choline, d9-phosphocholine were purchased from CDN isotopes and d9glycerophosphocholine was synthesized from d9 labeled dipalmitoyl glycerophosphocholine (#860352P Avanti) using the Koc-Zeisel method¹⁵³. These analyses were performed by Roger Dyer, Senior Laboratory Technician in the Analytical Core for Metabolomics and Nutrition at BCCHRI.

3.9 Liver Triglyceride Quantification

Frozen liver samples were weighed (50 mg) and homogenized in 500 μL of dH₂O by sonication. Tissue lysates were centrifuged (4°C for 10 minutes at 8,000 rpm) and the supernatant was stored at -80°C. Protein concentrations were determined by the Bradford Protein Assay¹⁵¹ using Quick StartTM dye reagent (#5000205 Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc). Lipids were isolated from liver homogenates by the method of Folch¹⁵⁴ using 6:3:2.25 v/v/v of chloroform/methanol/homogenate. Samples were vortexed thoroughly followed by centrifugation (20°C for 5 minutes at 2,500 rpm); the lower organic layer was then transferred to a new microcentrifuge tube. Lipids were dried for 15 minutes using a nitrogen evaporator, then resuspended in 200 μ L 1:1 v/v TritonTM X-100 (Sigma-Aldrich)/methanol and sonicated at 40°C for 15 minutes and stored at -80°C. Triglycerides were quantified using a colorimetric kit (Triglyceride Reagent Set, #T7532 Pointe Scientific) and a standard curve (200, 160, 100, 50, 25 mg/dL) generated using a commercial standard (#T7531 Pointe Scientific). Assays were conducted in a 96-well plate, 10 μ L each of standards and samples were added into each well in duplicates with 180 μ L of warm reagent. The plate was incubated for 5 minutes under constant agitation (700 rpm) and absorbance was read at 500nm. Triglycerides concentrations were normalized to tissue weight and protein concentrations.

3.10 Statistical Analyses

All data points and the mean \pm SD are presented. Males and females were analyzed separately. Data normality was assessed by the Shapiro-Wilk test; a *p* value >0.05 was considered a normal distribution. Non-parametric tests were performed if the data were not normally distributed. Repeated-measures one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) evaluated changes in weight during the suckling and post weaning periods. My primary objective was to evaluate the differences between the sucrose and water groups, therefore I performed independent sample t-tests to compare both groups. My secondary objective was to analyze the differences between sucrose, fructose and glucose to determine if the effects I found in the sucrose group was attributed to a specific monosaccharide, therefore I performed one-way

ANOVA to compare sucrose to fructose and glucose followed by a Tukey post-hoc test if necessary. Data were analyzed using the software SPSS version 17 (SPSS Inc; IBM, Chicago, US). A *p*-value <0.05 was considered statistically significant. Results were graphed using GraphPad Prism 8 software.

The sham group (neonatal handled mice; no treatment) was included to validate the watertreated mice as controls. No statistical differences were found in any parameters between these groups (see supplementary material). As such, the sham group was no longer included in the analyses of my thesis and the water treated group was used as my control.

Chapter 4: Growth, Body Composition and Adiposity

4.1 Body Weight

Body weight was assessed daily from birth to weaning (P0-P21) and weekly thereafter until euthanasia at age 16 weeks. There were no differences in birth weight of male or female pups in any of the groups (Figure 4-1A, 4-1B). Female sucrose-treated pups weighed less at the end of the treatment period (P7) compared to the rest of the groups (Figure 4-1C, 4-1E). During the suckling period (P0-P21), sucrose-treated female mice gained less weight compared to the other groups (Figure 4-1G) and were lighter at P21 than glucose- and water-treated mice (Figure 4-2A). No differences in body weight were observed in male pups at any timepoint during the suckling period (Figure 4-1D, 4-1F, 4-1H) or at weaning (Figure 4-2B).

Between ages 3 to 16 weeks, there were no differences in weight gain in females (Figure 4-2C). At age 16 weeks, there were no difference in body weight between any of the treatment groups in female mice (Figure 4-2E). No differences in body weight were observed in male mice (Figures 4-2D, 4-2F).



Figure 4-1. Body weight and weight gain during the suckling period Values presented as mean \pm SD. A,B: body weight at birth. C,D: body weight at the end of the treatment (nostnatal day 7) E F: weight gain during the treatment (nostnatal day 7 – nostnatal day 1) G H: weight

(postnatal day 7). E,F: weight gain during the treatment (postnatal day 7 – postnatal day 1). G,H: weight gain during the suckling period. **p<0.01; n=7-10 mice per group.



Figure 4-2. Body weight and weight gain

Values presented as mean \pm SD. A,B: body weight gain at weaning. C,D: weight gain during the postweaning period. E,F: body weight at adulthood. *p<0.05, **p<0.01; n=7-10 mice per group.

4.2 Length

Nose to anus and tibia length were assessed as indicators of body size at age 16 weeks. Neonatal treatment had no effect on nose to anus length in females (Figure 4-3A). However, sucrose-treated female mice had smaller (p=0.001) tibias compared to the other groups (Figure 4-3C). No differences in body size or tibia length were found in males (Figure 4-3B, 4-3D).





Values presented as mean \pm SD. A,B: nose to anus length. C,D: tibia length. **p<0.01; n=7-10 mice per group.

4.3 Body Composition and Adiposity

Body composition was assessed at age 13 weeks, prior to physiological assessments of glucose homeostasis. No effect of neonatal treatment on body fat or lean mass percentage in females (Figure 4-4A, 4-4C) or males (Figure 4-4B, 4-4D) was observed.



Figure 4-4. Body composition during adulthood

Values were normalized to total body weight and are presented as mean \pm SD. A, B: fat mass. C,D: lean mass. n=7-10 mice per group.

Mesenteric, retroperitoneal, gonadal, subcutaneous and brown fat were dissected and weighed. No effect of neonatal treatments on individual fat pad weights or total adiposity were observed in female (Table 4-1) or male (Table 4-2) mice.

Table 4-1. Female tot	l adiposity and indiv	vidual fat pad weight
-----------------------	-----------------------	-----------------------

	Treatment Group			
Fat Depot (% total body weight)	Water	Sucrose	Fructose	Glucose
Total adiposity	5.15 ± 1.45	4.70 ± 0.87	5.34 ± 1.58	5.34 ± 1.56
Mesenteric	0.77 ± 0.30	0.78 ± 0.23	0.88 ± 0.23	0.81 ± 0.18
Retroperitoneal	0.52 ± 0.21	0.49 ± 0.13	0.54 ± 0.22	0.55 ± 0.18
Gonadal	1.98 ± 0.58	1.65 ± 0.38	2.09 ± 0.62	2.00 ± 0.74
Subcutaneous	1.59 ± 0.42	1.51 ± 0.18	1.64 ± 0.37	1.68 ± 0.46
Brown	0.28 ± 0.04	0.26 ± 0.03	0.27 ± 0.06	0.28 ± 0.05

Values presented as mean \pm SD. n=7-10 mice per group.

Table 4-2. Male total adiposity and individual fat pad weight

	Treatment Group			
Fat Depot (% total body weight)	Water	Sucrose	Fructose	Glucose
Total adiposity	6.61 ± 2.05	6.79 ± 2.36	7.27 ± 1.45	7.94 ± 1.75
Mesenteric	0.95 ± 0.34	0.95 ± 0.28	0.99 ± 0.16	1.14 ± 0.20
Retroperitoneal	0.80 ± 0.42	0.92 ± 0.45	1.03 ± 0.22	1.02 ± 0.54
Gonadal	2.85 ± 0.83	2.89 ± 1.08	3.02 ± 0.66	3.37 ± 0.84
Subcutaneous	1.68 ± 0.43	1.68 ± 0.51	1.85 ± 0.46	2.01 ± 0.45
Brown	0.32 ± 0.10	0.33 ± 0.08	0.35 ± 0.06	0.38 ± 0.11

Values presented as means \pm SD. n=7-10 mice per group

4.4 Organ Weights

No effect of neonatal treatment on brain, liver, pancreas, adrenal glands, kidney and heart size in female (Table 4-3) or male (Table 4-4) mice.

Table 4-3.	Female	tissue	distribution
------------	--------	--------	--------------

	Treatment Group			
Organ (% total body weight)	Water	Sucrose	Fructose	Glucose
Brain	2.07 ± 0.12	2.13 ± 0.14	2.03 ± 0.10	2.07 ± 0.15
Liver	3.95 ± 0.25	3.94 ± 0.25	3.85 ± 0.24	3.91 ± 0.26
Pancreas	1.19 ± 0.17	1.17 ± 0.19	1.07 ± 0.13	1.15 ± 0.12
Adrenal glands	0.05 ± 0.01	0.05 ± 0.02	0.04 ± 0.01	0.05 ± 0.01
Kidneys	1.03 ± 0.05	0.97 ± 0.06	0.99 ± 0.06	1.02 ± 0.07
Heart	0.54 ± 0.02	0.57 ± 0.10	0.54 ± 0.05	0.55 ± 0.05

Values presented as mean \pm SD. n=7-10 mice per group

Table 4-4. Male tissue distribution

	Treatment Group			
Organ (% total body weight)	Water	Sucrose	Fructose	Glucose
Brain	1.61 ± 0.12	1.57 ± 0.20	1.53 ± 0.09	1.53 ± 0.11
Liver	3.68 ± 0.29	3.43 ± 0.31	3.70 ± 0.38	3.87 ± 0.39
Pancreas	1.02 ± 0.12	1.06 ± 0.32	1.01 ± 0.16	0.92 ± 0.17
Adrenal glands	0.03 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.01	0.03 ± 0.01
Kidneys	0.95 ± 0.08	1.02 ± 0.19	0.92 ± 0.05	0.92 ± 0.02
Heart	0.49 ± 0.04	0.53 ± 0.06	0.52 ± 0.04	0.48 ± 0.04

Values presented as mean \pm SD. n=7-10 mice per group

4.5 Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 (IGF-1) and Fibroblast Growth Factor-21 (FGF21)

I investigated whether the differences in body weight and bone length of the adult female sucrose-treated mice compared to water-treated mice was accompanied by differences in serum IGF-1 concentrations⁹⁹. Adult sucrose-treated female mice had lower serum IGF-1 concentrations compared to water-treated female mice (577.32 \pm 126.14 ng/mL vs 742.99 \pm 143.57 ng/mL respectively; *p*=0.028, Figure 4-5A). I further investigated if the differences in serum IGF-1 concentrations were accompanied by differences in liver *Igf-1* mRNA expression but found no effect of neonatal treatments (Figure 4-5C). I also assessed IGF-1 receptor protein expression in skeletal muscle and found no effect of neonatal treatment (Figure 4-5I).

Dietary sucrose, fructose and glucose stimulate expression (mRNA and protein) of liver $FGF21^{155, 156}$, which inhibits IGF-1¹¹⁴. I postulated that the lower serum IGF-1 concentrations in adult sucrose-treated female mice would be accompanied by a higher FGF21 levels. However, I observed no effect of neonatal sucrose treatment on liver *Fgf21* mRNA or serum FGF21 concentrations in female mice (Figure 4-5E, 4-5G). No differences in serum IGF-1 and FGF21 concentrations or liver *Igf*-1 and *Fgf21* mRNA were observed in male mice (Figure 4-5B, 4-5D, 4-5F, 4-5H).



Figure 4-5. Serum IGF-1 and FGF21 concentrations and liver Igf-1 and Fgf21 mRNA

Values presented as mean \pm SD. A,B: serum IGF-1 concentrations. C,D: liver *Igf-1* mRNA expression. E,F: serum FGF21 concentrations. G,H: liver *Fgf21* mRNA expression I: expression of the IGF-1 receptor in skeletal muscle (rectus femoris). *p<0.05; n=4-8 mice per group.

4.6 Small Intestine Morphology

Neonatal mice have an immature intestine, which may be sensitive to exposure to dietary components other than milk¹⁴⁷. I investigated if the repeated sucrose treatment during the neonatal period affected small intestinal morphology. I postulated that the negative effect of sucrose on body size and growth could be related to alterations in intestinal morphology, thereby disturbing nutrient absorption. In addition, IGF-1 has well-known trophic effects in the small intestine and promotes villi and crypt proliferation and regeneration¹⁵⁷. Given that sucrose digestion occurs predominantly in the jejunum, I performed histological analysis of jejunum from the female mice. I observed no differences in villi length, crypt depth or villi/crypt ratio in the sucrose-treated female mice compared to the water-treated female mice (Figures 4-6B, 4-6C, 4-6D).

А Water Sucrose В 500-/illi length (µm) 400 300-200 100 Water Sucrose С D Villi length to crypt depth ratio 150 Crypt depth (µm) 100 2 50 Water Sucrose ٥ Water Sucrose

Figure 4-6. Morphology of female adult jejunum

Values presented as mean \pm SD. A: Overview of adult female jejunum villi and crypts. B: villi length. C: crypt depth. D: villi/crypt ratio. n=7 mice per group.

Summary of Findings

Females

My results suggest that in female mice, repeated neonatal sucrose treatment reduced weight gain during the suckling period and reduced tibia length in adulthood. This was accompanied by lower serum IGF-1 concentrations in adult females, suggesting a role for an IGF-1-dependent pathway. Furthermore, I found no effect of fructose or glucose, suggesting that the effects I observed are specific to sucrose and not to its monosaccharide components. No effects of neonatal sucrose treatments on growth or IGF-1 were observed in male mice. Neonatal sucrose treatment had no effect on adiposity or body composition in female or male mice.

Chapter 5: Assessment of Glucose Homeostasis

5.1 Glucose Metabolism at Weaning

I conducted IP glucose and insulin tolerance tests to assess glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity in the pups at weaning. No differences were observed in fasting blood glucose (Figure 5-1A, 5-1B), glucose tolerance (Figure 5-1C, 5-1D), or insulin tolerance (Figure 5-1E, 5-1F) in male or female mice.

5.2 Glucose Metabolism During Adulthood

I observed no differences in fasting blood glucose (Figure 5-2A, 5-2B), glucose tolerance (Figure 5-2C, 5-2D), insulin tolerance (Figure 5-2E, 5-2F), fasting serum insulin concentrations (Figure 5-3A, 5-3B), or GSIS (Figure 5-3C, 5-3D) in male or female adult mice from the different treatment groups.



Figure 5-1. Glucose and insulin tolerance in mice at weaning.

Values presented as mean \pm SD. A,B: fasting blood glucose in 3-week old mice. C, D: intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test and area under the curve (AUC) in 3 week-old mice. E,F: intraperitoneal insulin tolerance test and area over the curve (AOC) in 4 week-old mice. n=7-10 mice per group.


Figure 5-2. Glucose and insulin tolerance in adult mice.

Values presented as mean \pm SD. A,B: fasting blood glucose in 13-week old mice. C, D: intraperitoneal glucose tolerance test and area under the curve (AUC) in 13 week-old mice. E,F: intraperitoneal insulin tolerance test and area over the curve (AOC) in 14 week-old mice. n=7-10 mice per group.



Figure 5-3. Glucose-stimulated insulin secretion in adult mice.

Values presented as mean \pm SD. A,B: fasting serum insulin in 15 week-old mice. C, D: glucosestimulated insulin secretion test and area under the curve (AUC) in 15 week-old mice. n=4-5 mice per group.

Chapter 6: Liver Choline Metabolites

Choline is essential for growth, brain development, lipid metabolism, and cellular methylation reactions¹³². Given that fructose, a component of sucrose, activates lipogenic pathways and disturbs choline metabolism in the liver⁷⁴ I postulated that neonatal sucrose treatment may affect choline metabolism in the liver.

Interestingly, I observed that adult female mice that received neonatal sucrose treatment had lower free choline (Figure 6-1A), phosphocholine (Figure 6-1C) and glycerophosphocholine (Figure 6-1E) concentrations in the liver, and higher betaine concentrations in the liver (Figure 6-1G) compared to water-treated female mice. These findings suggest that in female mice, neonatal sucrose treatment has long-term impact on liver choline metabolism. I found no differences in liver water-soluble choline metabolites in the adult male mice (Figure 6-1B, 6-1D, 6-1F, 6-1H).



Figure 6-1. Water-soluble choline metabolites in the liver

Values presented as mean \pm SD. A,B: free choline. C, D: phosphocholine, E,F: glycerophosphocholine, G,H: betaine. *p<0.05, **p<0.01; n=6-7 mice per group.

Phosphocholine is a major substrate for synthesis of phosphatidylcholine, a necessary component of very-low-density lipoproteins¹³⁵ that transport triglycerides from the liver. Therefore, I postulated that the lower liver phosphocholine concentrations in neonatal sucrose-treated adult female mice may be accompanied by triglyceride accumulation in the liver. However, I found no differences in liver triglyceride concentrations between neonatal sucrose-treated and water-treated adult female mice (Figure 6-2A, 6-2C); a similar finding was also observed in the male mice (Figure 6-2B, 6-2D).



Figure 6-2. Liver triglycerides

Values presented as mean \pm SD. A,B: data presented in mg/mg of protein. C, D: data presented in mg/g tissue. n=6 mice per group.

Chapter 7: Discussion

I evaluated the long-term effects of neonatal sucrose treatment on growth, adiposity, glucose homeostasis and liver choline metabolism using a mouse model³⁹. To my knowledge, there are no published studies exploring the metabolic effects of neonatal sucrose treatment. My research directly addresses the knowledge gaps highlighted recently by the American Academy of Pediatrics²⁹ that more research is needed on the safety and long-term effects of neonatal sucrose treatment. My thesis research identified three main findings. First, I found sex-specific differences in growth. Female mice that received sucrose during the neonatal period gained less weight during the suckling period and were smaller at weaning. By adulthood, the weight of sucrose-treated females was similar to the other groups, suggesting catch-up growth. However, sucrose-treated female mice had reduced tibia length in adulthood, suggesting enduring effects on growth. These effects were accompanied by reduced serum IGF-1 concentrations in adulthood, suggesting a role for IGF-1 mediated pathways in the effects of sucrose treatment on growth. Second, I observed alterations in liver water-soluble choline metabolites in neonatal sucrose-treated adult female mice. Given the important role of choline in brain development, alterations in liver choline metabolism could contribute to the adverse effects of neonatal sucrose treatment on brain size and neurodevelopment^{39, 40}. Third, contrary to my hypothesis, I observed no effects of neonatal sucrose treatment on adiposity or physiological assessments of glucose homeostasis.

7.1 Effects on Growth

I found that sucrose-treated female mice gained less weight at the end of the treatment (P7) and during the suckling period compared to the rest of the female groups. The first published study³⁹ with the same mouse model that I used also reported differences in weight gain. Mice receiving oral sucrose during the neonatal period gained less weight at the end of the treatment (mean difference of weight P7-P1) compared to water controls. However, this difference did not reach statistical significance (p=0.078) possibly because male and female mice were analyzed together.

During the post-weaning period, the weight differences I observed during the suckling period were no longer present, and the female sucrose-treated mice had similar body weights at age 16 weeks compared to the rest of the groups. My findings are in agreement with the studies by Tremblay et al.^{39, 40} that reported no effect of neonatal sucrose treatment on final body weight of adult mice (age 13 weeks). In preterm infants, only a small randomized controlled trial (n=43) has evaluated weight gain in sucrose-treated preterm infants (<32 weeks of gestation) at hospital discharge and report no difference between sucrose-treated infants and infants treated with water¹⁵⁸.

It is not clear why sucrose treatment in the neonatal period affects growth and body weight. However, experiments in older mice have reported similar results. Eight week-old C57BL/6J mice fed a high-sucrose diet (38.5% of the energy) for 15 weeks were found to gain less weight, and this was accompanied by increased energy expenditure and FGF21 expression in the liver (mRNA) and plasma (protein)⁹³. It is well known that dietary fructose and glucose activate ChREBP, a transcriptional factor in the liver that stimulates FGF21 synthesis¹⁵⁹. Activation of FGF21 downregulates expression of STAT5b, a main transcriptional regulator of

IGF-1 expression¹¹⁴. I speculated that lower serum IGF-1 concentrations would be accompanied by higher serum FGF21 concentrations. However, I found no effect of neonatal sucrose treatment on serum FGF21 or liver Fgf21 mRNA expression in adult mice suggesting the growth and body size differences I observed involves pathways unrelated to FGF21. Nevertheless, there is a possibility that sucrose treatment during the neonatal period produced an acute and transient increase in FGF21 expression and thereby downregulated systemic IGF-1 concentrations during critical timepoints in development leading to the differences in body weight gain and bone size. There is also the possibility that oral sucrose treatment reduces milk intake during treatment. Along this line, young female Sprague-Dawley rats (age 28 days; n=44) given a 13% sucrose solution *ad libitum* for 8 weeks consumed 30% less food than those receiving tap water¹⁶⁰.

Another interesting finding I observed, is that tibia length was smaller in adult female mice treated with neonatal sucrose. This finding suggests that the early disturbances in growth also impacted tibia chondrocyte activity in the growth plate, as the highest tibia elongation rates in mice occurs in the first weeks after birth (~2.6 mm increments per week)¹⁶¹. Sucrose could also directly interfere with bone growth during this important developmental time point. In this context, numerous studies in adult rats have reported negative effects of sucrose-containing diets on bone density, strength and mineral concentration and that these effects are more prominent in female mice than male mice¹⁶²⁻¹⁶⁴. For example, Tjäderhane et al.¹⁶² reported that young Wistar female rats (age 21 days; n=36) fed a high sucrose diet (43g / 100g of diet) for 5 weeks had lighter and weaker bones (tibia and femur), lower bone density and decreased calcium/phosphorous bone concentrations than females fed a high starch diet (43g / 100g of diet). Interestingly in humans, a cross-sectional study reported that children aged 2-5 years with high consumption of sugar (>12 oz of industrial fruit juice per day; estimated by 7-day dietary

records) were shorter than children with lower consumption of sugar (<12 oz of industrial fruit juice per day)¹²⁸

The mechanisms underlying the effects of sucrose on bone are not clear but several different mechanisms have been proposed. For example, dietary sucrose-stimulated hyperinsulinemia may induce hypercalciuria and reduce reabsorption of calcium in the kidneys; thereby, reducing bone mineral concentration^{165, 166}. Further, *in vitro* studies demonstrated that under high glucose conditions (49.5 mmol/L), MG-63 (human osteosarcoma) cells have impaired response to IGF-1 stimulation and decreased cell growth suggesting inhibition of osteoblast proliferation¹⁶⁷. From my findings, it is difficult to speculate on the underlying mechanism for my observations because I only assessed one indicator of tibia growth and did not measure growth plate width, bone mineral density, periosteal bone formation or chondrocyte proliferation. Future studies should be aimed at investigating the effects of neonatal sucrose treatment on these parameters.

Given the differences in growth and bone size that I observed, I speculated that neonatal sucrose treatment may affect growth factors. Despite finding lower serum IGF-1 concentrations in female mice that received neonatal sucrose treatment, I found no effect on liver *Igf-1* mRNA expression. Many posttranscriptional and posttranslational modifications regulate IGF-1 protein expression such as miRNAs silencing¹⁶⁸ and proteolytic processing of proIGF-1 to mature IGF-1¹⁶⁹; therefore, mRNA transcripts do not necessarily correlate with protein expression^{168, 169}. Further studies are required to evaluate the regulatory mechanisms of IGF-1 that occurred in neonatal sucrose-treated female mice.

I further speculated that the lower serum IGF-1 concentrations would be associated with changes in IGF-1R expression, however, I found no differences in IGF-1R protein expression in

skeletal muscle. Further research is required to evaluate IGF-1R functionality by evaluating IGF-1R phosphorylation or downstream IGF-1 signalling pathways such as phosphatidylinositol 3kinase (PI3K)/Akt or the Shc/mitogen activated protein kinase (MAPK)¹⁷⁰.

The effects of neonatal sucrose treatment on growth and bone size were sexually dimorphic with no effects observed in male mice. The underlying mechanism that accounts for this sex-specific phenotype are unknown but may involve a combination of hormonal and genetic influences¹⁷¹. Although the expression of sex steroids occurs during puberty, in males there is a transitory release of testosterone during the late embryonic period up to the first week of life that is critical for brain development ¹⁷². It is also well-known that growth hormone can be stimulated by testosterone ¹⁷³; therefore, it is possible that the disruption of growth elicited by sucrose during the neonatal period did not affect males due to the transitory protection conferred by testosterone. Furthermore, the releasing pattern of growth hormone in female mice is characterized by frequent peaks and shorter intervals whereas in male mice the peaks are higher and less frequent¹⁷⁴. Therefore, neonatal sucrose treatment could impact growth hormone patterns by interfering with the frequent peaks of growth hormone in female mice.

7.2 Effects of Neonatal Sucrose on Choline Metabolites

My study is the first to report on effects of neonatal sucrose treatment on hepatic choline metabolism in adulthood. Importantly, all of my treatment groups were weaned onto a control diet, which provided adequate choline as choline bitartrate (Table 3-1). Free choline and phosphocholine are substrates required for the synthesis of phosphatidylcholine by the CDP-choline pathway ¹³⁵. In my study I found that neonatal sucrose-treated female mice had lower hepatic concentrations of free choline and phosphocholine as well as lower

glycerophosphocholine, a product generated by the deacylation of phosphatidylcholine (Figure 1-5). I was unable to quantify phosphatidylcholine in my samples, but I postulate that liver phosphatidylcholine would also be lower in neonatal sucrose treated female mice. Given that phosphatidylcholine is required for the assembly of VLDL, an important carrier of choline and long chain fatty acids^{135, 175}, my findings suggest that there could be disturbances in the delivery of these important nutrients to extra-hepatic tissues, including the brain. This could potentially explain the reduced regional brain size in adult mice³⁹ and impairments in neurodevelopment in both mice and preterm infants^{38, 40} that received neonatal sucrose treatment.

In my study, hepatic betaine concentrations were higher in neonatal sucrose-treated adult female mice than in neonatal water-treated adult female mice. Betaine can be obtained from the diet or it is generated by the irreversible oxidation of choline, which occurs predominantly in liver, kidney and retina¹⁴³. The control diet that the mice were fed did not contain betaine. The higher liver betaine could be from enhanced synthesis or a reduction in the use of betaine to remethylate homocysteine to methionine. It is also unclear why choline metabolites are altered in neonatal sucrose-treated female mice but not male mice. Further research is required to investigate the underlying mechanisms accounting for these sex-specific differences.

7.3 Effects on Adiposity

Fructose and glucose metabolism in the liver stimulate several lipogenic pathways⁷². The adverse effects of sucrose on adiposity is attributed to fructose, which has been shown to increase adiposity and visceral fat in both mice and humans¹⁷⁶. Although I speculated that neonatal fructose- and sucrose-treated mice would have greater adiposity I found no effects of the treatments on fat mass or visceral adiposity. My results contrast the few studies that have

investigated the effects of dietary fructose on body composition during the suckling period. Neonatal mice suckling from dams receiving a 10% fructose solution¹⁷² or suckling rats that were fed with rat-milk substitutes (50% of rat milk lactose substituted by fructose)¹⁷³ had greater fat pad weight, and adipocyte area and diameter compared to control mice^{177, 178}. It could be that the duration and the amounts of fructose and sucrose provided by the neonatal treatments are much less than those found to affect adiposity.

7.4 Effects on Glucose Homeostasis

Blood glucose and insulin concentrations acutely rises after consumption of solutions containing either sucrose or glucose^{177, 179}. I found no effect of neonatal sucrose, glucose or fructose treatment on glucose homeostasis in mice at weaning or adulthood. My intervention may not have been long enough to cause disturbances in glucose homeostasis as detrimental effects of dietary sucrose/fructose/glucose occurs after several weeks of feeding. Further, it is well-stablished that switching from consumption of sugar-sweetened solutions to water improves glucose and insulin tolerance¹⁸⁰. As such, it is possible that disturbances in glucose homeostasis occurs only during the neonatal treatment period and disappears later during development.

7.5 Differential Effects of Sucrose, Fructose and Glucose

It is unclear why there is an effect of neonatal sucrose treatment on growth and body size in female mice but no effects of fructose- or glucose-treatments. One possibility is that the hedonic properties of sucrose, could discourage the consumption of breastmilk during the critical developmental window with long-lasting effects on growth. In adult rats and mice there is a greater preference for sucrose solutions than glucose or fructose^{181, 182}. In suckling rats, the

mRNA expression of the intestinal fructose transporter, GLUT 5, is very low (less than 70%) compared to expression in post-weaning rats⁶³. However, fructose absorption is stimulated if it is co-ingested with glucose⁶⁵. It may be that fructose given as a single monosaccharide in the neonatal oral treatment was not absorbed, but the fructose component in the sucrose-treated female mice was fully absorbed and metabolized in the small intestine because of co-ingestion with glucose, and thereby, elicited the biological effects.

7.6 Conclusions and Limitations

The overarching summary of my findings is depicted in Figure 7-1. Female mice that received neonatal sucrose treatment gained less weight during the suckling period and were smaller at weaning. In adulthood, these female mice had similar body weight to the other females but had smaller tibias and lower serum IGF-1 concentrations, suggestion some long-term effects on growth. This was accompanied by alterations in liver choline metabolites suggesting long term effects of neonatal sucrose treatment on liver choline metabolism; the biological relevance of these findings remain to be determined. There were no effects of neonatal sucrose treatment adiposity or glucose homeostasis in male or female mice.

It is important to consider the limitations in my study. The effects of neonatal sucrose treatment on bone are limited to tibia length as I did not thoroughly evaluate tibia strength, width, mineral concentrations, or chondrocytes activity. I did not measure tissue-specific production of IGF-1, which could account for the lower serum IGF-1 concentrations. I quantified total IGF-1R protein in skeletal muscle and did not assess activity, which may have been affected by neonatal sucrose treatment. I quantified hepatic water-soluble liver choline metabolites but

did not assess liver and brain phosphatidylcholine, sphingomyelin and acetylcholine, which are also important for growth and brain development.



Figure 7-1. Overarching summary of thesis

7.7 Future Directions

There are several directions for further research. Studies assessing isotopic tracing of the sucrose molecules in neonatal mice to assess its metabolic fate immediately after the first treatment (P1), and at the end of the cumulative treatments (P7) would improve our understanding of sucrose metabolism during the early neonatal period. More elaborate assessments of growth factors such as growth hormone, circulating IGF-1 binding proteins, and the functionality of IGF receptors during the treatment and posttreatment are required.

Assessment of bone growth, such as chondrocyte activity and tibia-specific IGF-1 production would improve the understanding of how neonatal sucrose affects bone. Determining if the hedonic properties of sucrose affects suckling from the dams and milk intake by the pups will provide insight into whether reduce milk intake underlies reduced growth in the sucrose-treated pups. Further research should also evaluate other hormonal factors such as glucocorticoids or thyroid hormone¹⁸³, that have key roles in growth and chondrocyte activity of the growth plate.

Bibliography

1. Howson C, Kinney M and Lawn J. March of Dimes, PMNCH, Save the children, WHO. *Born too soon: the global action report on preterm birth Geneva: World Health Organization.* 2012.

2. Chawanpaiboon S, Vogel JP, Moller AB, Lumbiganon P, Petzold M, Hogan D, Landoulsi S, Jampathong N, Kongwattanakul K, Laopaiboon M, Lewis C, Rattanakanokchai S, Teng DN, Thinkhamrop J, Watananirun K, Zhang J, Zhou W and Gülmezoglu AM. Global, regional, and national estimates of levels of preterm birth in 2014: a systematic review and modelling analysis. *Lancet Glob Health*. 2019;7:e37-e46.

3. Richter LL, Ting J, Muraca GM, Boutin A, Wen Q, Lyons J, Synnes A and Lisonkova S. Temporal Trends in Preterm Birth, Neonatal Mortality, and Neonatal Morbidity Following Spontaneous and Clinician-Initiated Delivery in Canada, 2009-2016. *J Obstet Gynaecol Can*. 2019;41:1742-1751.e6.

4. Fallah S, Chen X-K, Lefebvre D, Kurji J, Hader J and Leeb K. Babies admitted to NICU/ICU: Province of birth and mode of delivery matter. *Healthcare Quarterly*. 2011;14:16-20.

5. Roofthooft DW, Simons SH, Anand KJ, Tibboel D and van Dijk M. Eight years later, are we still hurting newborn infants? *Neonatology*. 2014;105:218-26.

6. Cignacco E, Hamers J, van Lingen RA, Stoffel L, Büchi S, Müller R, Schütz N, Zimmermann L and Nelle M. Neonatal procedural pain exposure and pain management in ventilated preterm infants during the first 14 days of life. *Swiss Med Wkly*. 2009;139:226-32.

7. Barker DP and Rutter N. Exposure to invasive procedures in neonatal intensive care unit admissions. *Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed.* 1995;72:F47-8.

8. Grunau RE. Neonatal pain in very preterm infants: long-term effects on brain, neurodevelopment and pain reactivity. *Rambam Maimonides medical journal*. 2013;4.

9. Vinall J, Miller SP, Chau V, Brummelte S, Synnes AR and Grunau RE. Neonatal pain in relation to postnatal growth in infants born very preterm. *Pain*. 2012;153:1374-81.

10. Brummelte S, Grunau RE, Chau V, Poskitt KJ, Brant R, Vinall J, Gover A, Synnes AR and Miller SP. Procedural pain and brain development in premature newborns. *Ann Neurol.* 2012;71:385-96.

11. Smith GC, Gutovich J, Smyser C, Pineda R, Newnham C, Tjoeng TH, Vavasseur C, Wallendorf M, Neil J and Inder T. Neonatal intensive care unit stress is associated with brain development in preterm infants. *Ann Neurol.* 2011;70:541-9.

12. Fitzgerald M, Millard C and McIntosh N. Cutaneous hypersensitivity following peripheral tissue damage in newborn infants and its reversal with topical anaesthesia. *Pain*. 1989;39:31-36.

13. Holsti L, Grunau RE, Whifield MF, Oberlander TF and Lindh V. Behavioral responses to pain are heightened after clustered care in preterm infants born between 30 and 32 weeks gestational age. *Clin J Pain*. 2006;22:757-64.

14. Grunau RE, Holsti L, Haley DW, Oberlander T, Weinberg J, Solimano A, Whitfield MF, Fitzgerald C and Yu W. Neonatal procedural pain exposure predicts lower cortisol and behavioral reactivity in preterm infants in the NICU. *Pain.* 2005;113:293-300.

15. Ranger M, Chau CM, Garg A, Woodward TS, Beg MF, Bjornson B, Poskitt K, Fitzpatrick K, Synnes AR, Miller SP and Grunau RE. Neonatal pain-related stress predicts cortical thickness at age 7 years in children born very preterm. *PLoS One*. 2013;8:e76702.

16. Gaspardo CM, Cassiano RG, Gracioli SM, Furini GC and Linhares MBM. Effects of neonatal pain and temperament on attention problems in toddlers born preterm. *Journal of pediatric psychology*. 2017;43:342-351.

17. Grunau RE, Whitfield MF, Petrie-Thomas J, Synnes AR, Cepeda IL, Keidar A, Rogers M, Mackay M, Hubber-Richard P and Johannesen D. Neonatal pain, parenting stress and interaction, in relation to cognitive and motor development at 8 and 18 months in preterm infants. *Pain*. 2009;143:138-46.

18. Brummelte S, Chau CM, Cepeda IL, Degenhardt A, Weinberg J, Synnes AR and Grunau RE. Cortisol levels in former preterm children at school age are predicted by neonatal procedural pain-related stress. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. 2015;51:151-63.

19. Witt N, Coynor S, Edwards C and Bradshaw H. A Guide to Pain Assessment and Management in the Neonate. Current Emergency and Hospital Medicine Reports, 4, 1-10. 2016.

20. Melo GMd, Lélis ALPdA, Moura AFd, Cardoso MVLML and Silva VMd. Pain assessment scales in newborns: integrative review. *Revista Paulista de Pediatria*. 2014;32:395-402.

21. Hummel P and van Dijk M. Pain assessment: current status and challenges. *Seminars in Fetal and Neonatal Medicine*. 2006;11:237-245.

22. Hatfield LA, Murphy N, Karp K and Polomano RC. A Systematic Review of Behavioral and Environmental Interventions for Procedural Pain Management in Preterm Infants. *J Pediatr Nurs*. 2019;44:22-30.

23. Mangat AK, Oei JL, Chen K, Quah-Smith I and Schmölzer GM. A Review of Non-Pharmacological Treatments for Pain Management in Newborn Infants. *Children (Basel)*. 2018;5.

24. Holsti L, MacLean K, Oberlander T, Synnes A and Brant R. Calmer: a robot for managing acute pain effectively in preterm infants in the neonatal intensive care unit. *Pain Reports*. 2019;4.

25. Locatelli C and Bellieni CV. Sensorial saturation and neonatal pain: a review. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med.* 2018;31:3209-3213.

26. Stevens B, Yamada J, Ohlsson A, Haliburton S and Shorkey A. Sucrose for analgesia in newborn infants undergoing painful procedures. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2016;7:CD001069.

27. Blass E, Fitzgerald E and Kehoe P. Interactions between sucrose, pain and isolation distress. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav.* 1987;26:483-9.

28. Blass EM and Hoffmeyer LB. Sucrose as an analgesic for newborn infants. *Pediatrics*. 1991;87:215-8.

29. MEDICINE COFANaSOAAP. Prevention and Management of Procedural Pain in the Neonate: An Update. *Pediatrics*. 2016;137:e20154271.

30. Taddio A, Yiu A, Smith RW, Katz J, McNair C and Shah V. Variability in clinical practice guidelines for sweetening agents in newborn infants undergoing painful procedures. *Clin J Pain*. 2009;25:153-5.

31. de Freitas RL, Kübler JM, Elias-Filho DH and Coimbra NC. Antinociception induced by acute oral administration of sweet substance in young and adult rodents: the role of endogenous opioid peptides chemical mediators and $\mu(1)$ -opioid receptors. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav*. 2012;101:265-70.

32. Rebouças EC, Segato EN, Kishi R, Freitas RL, Savoldi M, Morato S and Coimbra NC. Effect of the blockade of mu1-opioid and 5HT2A-serotonergic/alpha1-noradrenergic receptors on sweet-substance-induced analgesia. *Psychopharmacology (Berl)*. 2005;179:349-55.

33. Rada P, Avena NM and Hoebel BG. Daily bingeing on sugar repeatedly releases dopamine in the accumbens shell. *Neuroscience*. 2005;134:737-44.

34. Rani S and Gupta MC. Evaluation and comparison of antinociceptive activity of aspartame with sucrose. *Pharmacol Rep.* 2012;64:293-8.

35. Miyase CI, Kishi R, de Freitas RL, Paz DA and Coimbra NC. Involvement of pre- and post-synaptic serotonergic receptors of dorsal raphe nucleus neural network in the control of the sweet-substance-induced analgesia in adult Rattus norvegicus (Rodentia, Muridae). *Neurosci Lett.* 2005;379:169-73.

36. Harrison D, Loughnan P, Manias E and Johnston L. Analgesics administered during minor painful procedures in a cohort of hospitalized infants: a prospective clinical audit. *J Pain*. 2009;10:715-22.

37. Holsti L and Grunau RE. Considerations for using sucrose to reduce procedural pain in preterm infants. *Pediatrics*. 2010;125:1042-7.

38. Johnston CC, Filion F, Snider L, Majnemer A, Limperopoulos C, Walker CD, Veilleux A, Pelausa E, Cake H, Stone S, Sherrard A and Boyer K. Routine sucrose analgesia during the first week of life in neonates younger than 31 weeks' postconceptional age. *Pediatrics*. 2002;110:523-8.

39. Tremblay S, Ranger M, Chau CMY, Ellegood J, Lerch JP, Holsti L, Goldowitz D and Grunau RE. Repeated exposure to sucrose for procedural pain in mouse pups leads to long-term widespread brain alterations. *Pain*. 2017;158:1586-1598.

40. Ranger M, Tremblay S, Chau CMY, Holsti L, Grunau RE and Goldowitz D. Adverse Behavioral Changes in Adult Mice Following Neonatal Repeated Exposure to Pain and Sucrose. *Front Psychol.* 2018;9:2394.

41. Asmerom Y, Slater L, Boskovic DS, Bahjri K, Holden MS, Phillips R, Deming D, Ashwal S, Fayard E and Angeles DM. Oral sucrose for heel lance increases adenosine triphosphate use and oxidative stress in preterm neonates. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2013;163:29-35. e1.

42. BEEVERS CA and COCHRAN W. X-ray examination of sucrose. *Nature*. 1946;157:872.

43. DAHLQVIST A and THOMSON DL. The digestion and absorption of sucrose by the intact rat. *J Physiol*. 1963;167:193-209.

44. Altschul SF, Madden TL, Schäffer AA, Zhang J, Zhang Z, Miller W and Lipman DJ. Gapped BLAST and PSI-BLAST: a new generation of protein database search programs. *Nucleic acids research*. 1997;25:3389-3402.

45. Antonowicz I, Chang SK and Grand RJ. Development and distribution of lysosomal enzymes and disaccharidases in human fetal intestine. *Gastroenterology*. 1974;67:51-8.

46. Wright EM, Loo DD and Hirayama BA. Biology of human sodium glucose transporters. *Physiol Rev.* 2011;91:733-94.

47. Malo C and Berteloot A. Proximo-distal gradient of Na+-dependent D-glucose transport activity in the brush border membrane vesicles from the human fetal small intestine. *FEBS Lett.* 1987;220:201-5.

48. Buddington RK and Malo C. Intestinal brush-border membrane enzyme activities and transport functions during prenatal development of pigs. *J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr*. 1996;23:51-64.

49. Díez-Sampedro A, Wright EM and Hirayama BA. Residue 457 controls sugar binding and transport in the Na(+)/glucose cotransporter. *J Biol Chem.* 2001;276:49188-94.

50. Gorboulev V, Schürmann A, Vallon V, Kipp H, Jaschke A, Klessen D, Friedrich A, Scherneck S, Rieg T, Cunard R, Veyhl-Wichmann M, Srinivasan A, Balen D, Breljak D, Rexhepaj R, Parker HE, Gribble FM, Reimann F, Lang F, Wiese S, Sabolic I, Sendtner M and Koepsell H. Na(+)-D-glucose cotransporter SGLT1 is pivotal for intestinal glucose absorption and glucose-dependent incretin secretion. *Diabetes*. 2012;61:187-96.

51. Röder PV, Geillinger KE, Zietek TS, Thorens B, Koepsell H and Daniel H. The role of SGLT1 and GLUT2 in intestinal glucose transport and sensing. *PLoS One*. 2014;9:e89977.

52. Mueckler M and Thorens B. The SLC2 (GLUT) family of membrane transporters. *Mol Aspects Med.* 2013;34:121-38.

53. Davidson NO, Hausman AM, Ifkovits CA, Buse JB, Gould GW, Burant CF and Bell GI. Human intestinal glucose transporter expression and localization of GLUT5. *Am J Physiol*. 1992;262:C795-800.

54. Uldry M, Ibberson M, Hosokawa M and Thorens B. GLUT2 is a high affinity glucosamine transporter. *FEBS Lett.* 2002;524:199-203.

55. Walmsley AR, Barrett MP, Bringaud F and Gould GW. Sugar transporters from bacteria, parasites and mammals: structure–activity relationships. *Trends in biochemical sciences*. 1998;23:476-481.

56. Gouyon F, Caillaud L, Carriere V, Klein C, Dalet V, Citadelle D, Kellett GL, Thorens B, Leturque A and Brot-Laroche E. Simple-sugar meals target GLUT2 at enterocyte apical membranes to improve sugar absorption: a study in GLUT2-null mice. *J Physiol*. 2003;552:823-32.

57. Kellett GL and Brot-Laroche E. Apical GLUT2: a major pathway of intestinal sugar absorption. *Diabetes*. 2005;54:3056-62.

58. Merino B, Fernández-Díaz CM, Cózar-Castellano I and Perdomo G. Intestinal Fructose and Glucose Metabolism in Health and Disease. *Nutrients*. 2019;12.

59. Stümpel F, Burcelin R, Jungermann K and Thorens B. Normal kinetics of intestinal glucose absorption in the absence of GLUT2: evidence for a transport pathway requiring glucose phosphorylation and transfer into the endoplasmic reticulum. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2001;98:11330-5.

60. Santer R, Hillebrand G, Steinmann B and Schaub J. Intestinal glucose transport: evidence for a membrane traffic-based pathway in humans. *Gastroenterology*. 2003;124:34-9.

61. Barone S, Fussell SL, Singh AK, Lucas F, Xu J, Kim C, Wu X, Yu Y, Amlal H and Seidler U. Slc2a5 (Glut5) is essential for the absorption of fructose in the intestine and generation of fructose-induced hypertension. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2009;284:5056-5066.

62. Burant CF, Takeda J, Brot-Laroche E, Bell GI and Davidson NO. Fructose transporter in human spermatozoa and small intestine is GLUT5. *J Biol Chem.* 1992;267:14523-6.

63. Castelló A, Gumá A, Sevilla L, Furriols M, Testar X, Palacín M and Zorzano A. Regulation of GLUT5 gene expression in rat intestinal mucosa: regional distribution, circadian rhythm, perinatal development and effect of diabetes. *Biochem J*. 1995;309 (Pt 1):271-7.

64. Leturque A, Brot-Laroche E and Le Gall M. GLUT2 mutations, translocation, and receptor function in diet sugar managing. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 2009;296:E985-92.

65. Rumessen JJ and Gudmand-Høyer E. Absorption capacity of fructose in healthy adults. Comparison with sucrose and its constituent monosaccharides. *Gut.* 1986;27:1161-8.

66. Fujisawa T, Riby J and Kretchmer N. Intestinal absorption of fructose in the rat. *Gastroenterology*. 1991;101:360-367.

67. Ferrannini E, Bjorkman O, Reichard GA, Pilo A, Olsson M, Wahren J and DeFronzo RA. The disposal of an oral glucose load in healthy subjects. A quantitative study. *Diabetes*. 1985;34:580-8.

68. Rui L. Energy metabolism in the liver. *Comprehensive physiology*. 2011;4:177-197.

69. UNDERWOOD AH and NEWSHOLME EA. PROPERTIES OF PHOSPHOFRUCTOKINASE FROM RAT LIVER AND THEIR RELATION TO THE CONTROL OF GLYCOLYSIS AND GLUCONEOGENESIS. *Biochem J.* 1965;95:868-75.

70. Hue L and Rider MH. Role of fructose 2, 6-bisphosphate in the control of glycolysis in mammalian tissues. *Biochemical Journal*. 1987;245:313.

71. Mashima T, Seimiya H and Tsuruo T. De novo fatty-acid synthesis and related pathways as molecular targets for cancer therapy. *Br J Cancer*. 2009;100:1369-72.

72. Linden AG, Li S, Choi HY, Fang F, Fukasawa M, Uyeda K, Hammer RE, Horton JD, Engelking LJ and Liang G. Interplay between ChREBP and SREBP-1c coordinates postprandial glycolysis and lipogenesis in livers of mice. *J Lipid Res.* 2018;59:475-487.

73. Abdul-Wahed A, Guilmeau S and Postic C. Sweet Sixteenth for ChREBP: Established Roles and Future Goals. *Cell Metab.* 2017;26:324-341.

74. Koo HY, Miyashita M, Cho BH and Nakamura MT. Replacing dietary glucose with fructose increases ChREBP activity and SREBP-1 protein in rat liver nucleus. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2009;390:285-9.

75. Eberlé D, Hegarty B, Bossard P, Ferré P and Foufelle F. SREBP transcription factors: master regulators of lipid homeostasis. *Biochimie*. 2004;86:839-48.

76. Jang C, Hui S, Lu W, Cowan AJ, Morscher RJ, Lee G, Liu W, Tesz GJ, Birnbaum MJ and Rabinowitz JD. The Small Intestine Converts Dietary Fructose into Glucose and Organic Acids. *Cell Metab.* 2018;27:351-361.e3.

77. Hannou SA, Haslam DE, McKeown NM and Herman MA. Fructose metabolism and metabolic disease. *J Clin Invest*. 2018;128:545-555.

78. Brown KS, Kalinowski SS, Megill JR, Durham SK and Mookhtiar KA. Glucokinase regulatory protein may interact with glucokinase in the hepatocyte nucleus. *Diabetes*. 1997;46:179-186.

79. Heinz F, Lamprecht W and Kirsch J. Enzymes of fructose metabolism in human liver. *J Clin Invest*. 1968;47:1826-32.

80. Sun SZ and Empie MW. Fructose metabolism in humans - what isotopic tracer studies tell us. *Nutr Metab (Lond)*. 2012;9:89.

81. Mayes PA. Intermediary metabolism of fructose. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1993;58:754S-765S.

82. Kim M-S, Krawczyk SA, Doridot L, Fowler AJ, Wang JX, Trauger SA, Noh H-L, Kang HJ, Meissen JK and Blatnik M. ChREBP regulates fructose-induced glucose production independently of insulin signaling. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2016;126:4372-4386.

83. Lanaspa MA, Tapia E, Soto V, Sautin Y and Sánchez-Lozada LG. Uric acid and fructose: potential biological mechanisms. *Semin Nephrol.* 2011;31:426-32.

84. Yoon M. The role of PPARα in lipid metabolism and obesity: focusing on the effects of estrogen on PPARα actions. *Pharmacological Research*. 2009;60:151-159.

85. Roglans N, Vilà L, Farré M, Alegret M, Sánchez RM, Vázquez-Carrera M and Laguna JC. Impairment of hepatic Stat-3 activation and reduction of PPARalpha activity in fructose-fed rats. *Hepatology*. 2007;45:778-88.

86. Qiu L, Wu X, Chau JF, Szeto IY, Tam WY, Guo Z, Chung SK, Oates PJ, Chung SS and Yang JY. Aldose reductase regulates hepatic peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha phosphorylation and activity to impact lipid homeostasis. *J Biol Chem.* 2008;283:17175-83.

87. Nishimura T, Nakatake Y, Konishi M and Itoh N. Identification of a novel FGF, FGF-21, preferentially expressed in the liver. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2000;1492:203-6.

88. Kharitonenkov A, Shiyanova TL, Koester A, Ford AM, Micanovic R, Galbreath EJ, Sandusky GE, Hammond LJ, Moyers JS, Owens RA, Gromada J, Brozinick JT, Hawkins ED, Wroblewski VJ, Li DS, Mehrbod F, Jaskunas SR and Shanafelt AB. FGF-21 as a novel metabolic regulator. *J Clin Invest*. 2005;115:1627-35.

89. Izumiya Y, Bina HA, Ouchi N, Akasaki Y, Kharitonenkov A and Walsh K. FGF21 is an Akt-regulated myokine. *FEBS Lett.* 2008;582:3805-10.

90. Kharitonenkov A and Adams AC. Inventing new medicines: The FGF21 story. *Mol Metab.* 2014;3:221-9.

91. Badman MK, Pissios P, Kennedy AR, Koukos G, Flier JS and Maratos-Flier E. Hepatic fibroblast growth factor 21 is regulated by PPARalpha and is a key mediator of hepatic lipid metabolism in ketotic states. *Cell Metab.* 2007;5:426-37.

92. Lundsgaard AM, Fritzen AM, Sjøberg KA, Myrmel LS, Madsen L, Wojtaszewski JFP, Richter EA and Kiens B. Circulating FGF21 in humans is potently induced by short term overfeeding of carbohydrates. *Mol Metab.* 2017;6:22-29.

93. Maekawa R, Seino Y, Ogata H, Murase M, Iida A, Hosokawa K, Joo E, Harada N, Tsunekawa S, Hamada Y, Oiso Y, Inagaki N, Hayashi Y and Arima H. Chronic high-sucrose diet increases fibroblast growth factor 21 production and energy expenditure in mice. *J Nutr Biochem.* 2017;49:71-79.

94. Iizuka K, Takeda J and Horikawa Y. Glucose induces FGF21 mRNA expression through ChREBP activation in rat hepatocytes. *FEBS Lett.* 2009;583:2882-6.

95. Fisher FM, Kim M, Doridot L, Cunniff JC, Parker TS, Levine DM, Hellerstein MK, Hudgins LC, Maratos-Flier E and Herman MA. A critical role for ChREBP-mediated FGF21 secretion in hepatic fructose metabolism. *Mol Metab*. 2017;6:14-21.

96. Rinderknecht E and Humbel RE. The amino acid sequence of human insulin-like growth factor I and its structural homology with proinsulin. *J Biol Chem.* 1978;253:2769-76.

97. Bichell DP, Kikuchi K and Rotwein P. Growth hormone rapidly activates insulin-like growth factor I gene transcription in vivo. *Mol Endocrinol*. 1992;6:1899-908.

98. Yakar S, Liu JL, Stannard B, Butler A, Accili D, Sauer B and LeRoith D. Normal growth and development in the absence of hepatic insulin-like growth factor I. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1999;96:7324-9.

99. Laron Z. Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1): a growth hormone. *Mol Pathol*. 2001;54:311-6.

100. Lupu F, Terwilliger JD, Lee K, Segre GV and Efstratiadis A. Roles of growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor 1 in mouse postnatal growth. *Dev Biol.* 2001;229:141-62.

101. Giustina A and Veldhuis JD. Pathophysiology of the neuroregulation of growth hormone secretion in experimental animals and the human. *Endocr Rev.* 1998;19:717-97.

102. Lewitt MS, Saunders H, Phuyal JL and Baxter RC. Complex formation by human insulin-like growth factor-binding protein-3 and human acid-labile subunit in growth hormone-deficient rats. *Endocrinology*. 1994;134:2404-9.

103. Argetsinger LS, Campbell GS, Yang X, Witthuhn BA, Silvennoinen O, Ihle JN and Carter-Su C. Identification of JAK2 as a growth hormone receptor-associated tyrosine kinase. *Cell*. 1993;74:237-44.

104. Herrington J, Smit LS, Schwartz J and Carter-Su C. The role of STAT proteins in growth hormone signaling. *Oncogene*. 2000;19:2585-97.

105. Able AA, Burrell JA and Stephens JM. STAT5-Interacting Proteins: A Synopsis of Proteins that Regulate STAT5 Activity. *Biology (Basel)*. 2017;6.

106. Chia DJ, Varco-Merth B and Rotwein P. Dispersed Chromosomal Stat5b-binding elements mediate growth hormone-activated insulin-like growth factor-I gene transcription. *J Biol Chem.* 2010;285:17636-47.

107. Davey HW, Xie T, McLachlan MJ, Wilkins RJ, Waxman DJ and Grattan DR. STAT5b is required for GH-induced liver IGF-I gene expression. *Endocrinology*. 2001;142:3836-41.

108. Teglund S, McKay C, Schuetz E, van Deursen JM, Stravopodis D, Wang D, Brown M, Bodner S, Grosveld G and Ihle JN. Stat5a and Stat5b proteins have essential and nonessential, or redundant, roles in cytokine responses. *Cell*. 1998;93:841-50.

109. Kofoed EM, Hwa V, Little B, Woods KA, Buckway CK, Tsubaki J, Pratt KL, Bezrodnik L, Jasper H, Tepper A, Heinrich JJ and Rosenfeld RG. Growth hormone insensitivity associated with a STAT5b mutation. *N Engl J Med.* 2003;349:1139-47.

110. Greenhalgh CJ, Rico-Bautista E, Lorentzon M, Thaus AL, Morgan PO, Willson TA, Zervoudakis P, Metcalf D, Street I, Nicola NA, Nash AD, Fabri LJ, Norstedt G, Ohlsson C, Flores-Morales A, Alexander WS and Hilton DJ. SOCS2 negatively regulates growth hormone action in vitro and in vivo. *J Clin Invest*. 2005;115:397-406.

111. Turnley AM. Role of SOCS2 in growth hormone actions. *Trends Endocrinol Metab*. 2005;16:53-8.

112. Metcalf D, Greenhalgh CJ, Viney E, Willson TA, Starr R, Nicola NA, Hilton DJ and Alexander WS. Gigantism in mice lacking suppressor of cytokine signalling-2. *Nature*. 2000;405:1069-73.

113. Pass C, MacRae VE, Huesa C, Faisal Ahmed S and Farquharson C. SOCS2 is the critical regulator of GH action in murine growth plate chondrogenesis. *J Bone Miner Res.* 2012;27:1055-66.

114. Inagaki T, Lin VY, Goetz R, Mohammadi M, Mangelsdorf DJ and Kliewer SA. Inhibition of growth hormone signaling by the fasting-induced hormone FGF21. *Cell Metab.* 2008;8:77-83.

115. Kajantie E and Hovi P. Is very preterm birth a risk factor for adult cardiometabolic disease? *Semin Fetal Neonatal Med.* 2014;19:112-7.

116. Tan JBC, Boskovic DS and Angeles DM. The Energy Costs of Prematurity and the Neonatal Intensive Care Unit (NICU) Experience. *Antioxidants (Basel)*. 2018;7.

117. Sipola-Leppänen M, Vääräsmäki M, Tikanmäki M, Matinolli HM, Miettola S, Hovi P, Wehkalampi K, Ruokonen A, Sundvall J, Pouta A, Eriksson JG, Järvelin MR and Kajantie E. Cardiometabolic risk factors in young adults who were born preterm. *Am J Epidemiol.* 2015;181:861-73.

118. Kaijser M, Bonamy AK, Akre O, Cnattingius S, Granath F, Norman M and Ekbom A. Perinatal risk factors for diabetes in later life. *Diabetes*. 2009;58:523-6.

119. Markopoulou P, Papanikolaou E, Analytis A, Zoumakis E and Siahanidou T. Preterm Birth as a Risk Factor for Metabolic Syndrome and Cardiovascular Disease in Adult Life: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Pediatr*. 2019;210:69-80.e5.

120. Organization WH. *Guidelines on optimal feeding of low birth-weight infants in low-and middle-income countries*: World Health Organization; 2011.

121. Kumar RK, Singhal A, Vaidya U, Banerjee S, Anwar F and Rao S. Optimizing Nutrition in Preterm Low Birth Weight Infants-Consensus Summary. *Front Nutr.* 2017;4:20.

122. Organization WH. Global nutrition targets 2025: breastfeeding policy brief. 2014.

123. Canada H, Society CP, Canada Do and Canada BCf. Nutrition for healthy term infants: recommendations from birth to six months. *Can J Diet Pract Res.* 2012;73:204.

124. Boyce C, Watson M, Lazidis G, Reeve S, Dods K, Simmer K and McLeod G. Preterm human milk composition: a systematic literature review. *Br J Nutr*. 2016;116:1033-45.

125. Goran MI, Martin AA, Alderete TL, Fujiwara H and Fields DA. Fructose in Breast Milk Is Positively Associated with Infant Body Composition at 6 Months of Age. *Nutrients*. 2017;9.

126. Vos MB, Kaar JL, Welsh JA, Van Horn LV, Feig DI, Anderson CAM, Patel MJ, Cruz Munos J, Krebs NF, Xanthakos SA, Johnson RK, Health AHANCotCoLaC, Cardiology CoC, Young CoCDit, Nursing CoCaS, Prevention CoEa, Biology CoFGaT and Hypertension aCo. Added Sugars and Cardiovascular Disease Risk in Children: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2017;135:e1017-e1034.

127. Murray RD. Savoring Sweet: Sugars in Infant and Toddler Feeding. *Ann Nutr Metab.* 2017;70 Suppl 3:38-46.

128. Dennison BA, Rockwell HL and Baker SL. Excess fruit juice consumption by preschoolaged children is associated with short stature and obesity. *Pediatrics*. 1997;99:15-22.

129. Dubois L, Farmer A, Girard M and Peterson K. Regular sugar-sweetened beverage consumption between meals increases risk of overweight among preschool-aged children. *J Am Diet Assoc*. 2007;107:924-34; discussion 934-5.

130. Kell KP, Cardel MI, Bohan Brown MM and Fernández JR. Added sugars in the diet are positively associated with diastolic blood pressure and triglycerides in children. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2014;100:46-52.

131. Wang JW, Mark S, Henderson M, O'Loughlin J, Tremblay A, Wortman J, Paradis G and Gray-Donald K. Adiposity and glucose intolerance exacerbate components of metabolic syndrome in children consuming sugar-sweetened beverages: QUALITY cohort study. *Pediatric Obesity*. 2013;8:284-293.

132. Zeisel SH. Nutritional importance of choline for brain development. *J Am Coll Nutr*. 2004;23:621S-626S.

133. Wiedeman AM, Barr SI, Green TJ, Xu Z, Innis SM and Kitts DD. Dietary Choline Intake: Current State of Knowledge Across the Life Cycle. *Nutrients*. 2018;10.

134. Romano KA, Vivas EI, Amador-Noguez D and Rey FE. Intestinal microbiota composition modulates choline bioavailability from diet and accumulation of the proatherogenic metabolite trimethylamine-N-oxide. *mBio*. 2015;6:e02481.

135. van der Veen JN, Kennelly JP, Wan S, Vance JE, Vance DE and Jacobs RL. The critical role of phosphatidylcholine and phosphatidylethanolamine metabolism in health and disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta Biomembr.* 2017;1859:1558-1572.

136. Yao Z and Vance DE. Reduction in VLDL, but not HDL, in plasma of rats deficient in choline. *Biochemistry and Cell Biology*. 1990;68:552-558.

137. Schneider N, Hauser J, Oliveira M, Cazaubon E, Mottaz SC, O'Neill BV, Steiner P and Deoni SCL. Sphingomyelin in Brain and Cognitive Development: Preliminary Data. *eNeuro*. 2019;6.

138. Hasselmo ME. The role of acetylcholine in learning and memory. *Curr Opin Neurobiol*. 2006;16:710-5.

139. Allen DD and Smith QR. Characterization of the blood-brain barrier choline transporter using the in situ rat brain perfusion technique. *J Neurochem*. 2001;76:1032-41.

140. Ulus IH, Wurtman RJ, Mauron C and Blusztajn JK. Choline increases acetylcholine release and protects against the stimulation-induced decrease in phosphatide levels within membranes of rat corpus striatum. *Brain Res.* 1989;484:217-27.

141. Blusztajn JK, Holbrook PG, Lakher M, Liscovitch M, Maire JC, Mauron C, Richardson UI, Tacconi M and Wurtman RJ. "Autocannibalism" of membrane choline-phospholipids: physiology and pathology. *Psychopharmacol Bull*. 1986;22:781-6.

142. Bruneau EG and Akaaboune M. The dynamics of recycled acetylcholine receptors at the neuromuscular junction in vivo. *Development*. 2006;133:4485-93.

143. Craig SA. Betaine in human nutrition. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004;80:539-49.

144. Lago P, Garetti E, Merazzi D, Pieragostini L, Ancora G, Pirelli A, Bellieni CV and Neonatology PSGotISo. Guidelines for procedural pain in the newborn. *Acta Paediatrica*. 2009;98:932-939.

145. Davis JN, Ventura EE, Weigensberg MJ, Ball GD, Cruz ML, Shaibi GQ and Goran MI. The relation of sugar intake to beta cell function in overweight Latino children. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2005;82:1004-10.

146. Biran V, Verney C and Ferriero DM. Perinatal cerebellar injury in human and animal models. *Neurol Res Int.* 2012;2012:858929.

147. Puiman P and Stoll B. Animal models to study neonatal nutrition in humans. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. 2008;11:601-6.

148. Tinsley FC, Taicher GZ and Heiman ML. Evaluation of a quantitative magnetic resonance method for mouse whole body composition analysis. *Obes Res.* 2004;12:150-60.

149. Mehran AE, Templeman NM, Brigidi GS, Lim GE, Chu K-Y, Hu X, Botezelli JD, Asadi A, Hoffman BG and Kieffer TJ. Hyperinsulinemia drives diet-induced obesity independently of brain insulin production. *Cell metabolism*. 2012;16:723-737.

150. Livak KJ and Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods*. 2001;25:402-8.

151. Bradford MM. A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Anal Biochem.* 1976;72:248-54.

152. Schneider CA, Rasband WS and Eliceiri KW. NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nature methods*. 2012;9:671.

153. Koc H, Mar MH, Ranasinghe A, Swenberg JA and Zeisel SH. Quantitation of choline and its metabolites in tissues and foods by liquid chromatography/electrospray ionization-isotope dilution mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem.* 2002;74:4734-40.

154. FOLCH J, LEES M and SLOANE STANLEY GH. A simple method for the isolation and purification of total lipides from animal tissues. *J Biol Chem.* 1957;226:497-509.

155. Dushay JR, Toschi E, Mitten EK, Fisher FM, Herman MA and Maratos-Flier E. Fructose ingestion acutely stimulates circulating FGF21 levels in humans. *Mol Metab.* 2015;4:51-7.

156. Migdal A, Comte S, Rodgers M, Heineman B, Maratos-Flier E, Herman M and Dushay J. Fibroblast growth factor 21 and fructose dynamics in humans. *Obes Sci Pract*. 2018;4:483-489.

157. Bortvedt SF and Lund PK. Insulin-like growth factor 1: common mediator of multiple enterotrophic hormones and growth factors. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol*. 2012;28:89-98.

158. Linhares MB, Gaspardo CM, Souza LO, Valeri BO and Martinez FE. Examining the side effects of sucrose for pain relief in preterm infants: a case-control study. *Braz J Med Biol Res.* 2014;47:527-32.

159. von Holstein-Rathlou S, BonDurant LD, Peltekian L, Naber MC, Yin TC, Claflin KE, Urizar AI, Madsen AN, Ratner C, Holst B, Karstoft K, Vandenbeuch A, Anderson CB, Cassell MD, Thompson AP, Solomon TP, Rahmouni K, Kinnamon SC, Pieper AA, Gillum MP and Potthoff MJ. FGF21 Mediates Endocrine Control of Simple Sugar Intake and Sweet Taste Preference by the Liver. *Cell Metab.* 2016;23:335-43.

160. Tsanzi E, Light HR and Tou JC. The effect of feeding different sugar-sweetened beverages to growing female Sprague-Dawley rats on bone mass and strength. *Bone*. 2008;42:960-8.

161. Sanger TJ, Norgard EA, Pletscher LS, Bevilacqua M, Brooks VR, Sandell LJ and Cheverud JM. Developmental and genetic origins of murine long bone length variation. *J Exp Zool B Mol Dev Evol*. 2011;316B:146-61.

162. Tjäderhane L and Larmas M. A high sucrose diet decreases the mechanical strength of bones in growing rats. *J Nutr*. 1998;128:1807-10.

163. Li KC, Zernicke RF, Barnard RJ and Li AF. Effects of a high fat-sucrose diet on cortical bone morphology and biomechanics. *Calcif Tissue Int*. 1990;47:308-13.

164. Zernicke RF, Salem GJ, Barnard RJ and Schramm E. Long-term, high-fat-sucrose diet alters rat femoral neck and vertebral morphology, bone mineral content, and mechanical properties. *Bone*. 1995;16:25-31.

165. Holl MG and Allen LH. Sucrose ingestion, insulin response and mineral metabolism in humans. *J Nutr.* 1987;117:1229-33.

166. Wood RJ and Allen LH. Evidence for insulin involvement in arginine- and glucoseinduced hypercalciuria in the rat. *J Nutr*. 1983;113:1561-7.

167. Terada M, Inaba M, Yano Y, Hasuma T, Nishizawa Y, Morii H and Otani S. Growthinhibitory effect of a high glucose concentration on osteoblast-like cells. *Bone*. 1998;22:17-23.

168. Philippou A, Maridaki M, Pneumaticos S and Koutsilieris M. The complexity of the IGF1 gene splicing, posttranslational modification and bioactivity. *Mol Med.* 2014;20:202-14.

169. Duguay SJ. Post-translational processing of insulin-like growth factors. *Horm Metab Res.* 1999;31:43-9.

170. Schiaffino S and Mammucari C. Regulation of skeletal muscle growth by the IGF1-Akt/PKB pathway: insights from genetic models. *Skelet Muscle*. 2011;1:4.

171. Gillies GE and McArthur S. Estrogen actions in the brain and the basis for differential action in men and women: a case for sex-specific medicines. *Pharmacol Rev.* 2010;62:155-98.

172. McCarthy MM and Konkle AT. When is a sex difference not a sex difference? *Front Neuroendocrinol*. 2005;26:85-102.

173. Keenan BS, Richards GE, Ponder SW, Dallas JS, Nagamani M and Smith ER. Androgenstimulated pubertal growth: the effects of testosterone and dihydrotestosterone on growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor-I in the treatment of short stature and delayed puberty. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 1993;76:996-1001.

174. Liu Z, Mohan S and Yakar S. Does the GH/IGF-1 axis contribute to skeletal sexual dimorphism? Evidence from mouse studies. *Growth Horm IGF Res.* 2016;27:7-17.

175. Watkins SM, Zhu X and Zeisel SH. Phosphatidylethanolamine-N-methyltransferase activity and dietary choline regulate liver-plasma lipid flux and essential fatty acid metabolism in mice. *J Nutr.* 2003;133:3386-91.

176. Tappy L and Lê KA. Metabolic effects of fructose and the worldwide increase in obesity. *Physiol Rev.* 2010;90:23-46.

177. Alzamendi A, Castrogiovanni D, Gaillard RC, Spinedi E and Giovambattista A. Increased male offspring's risk of metabolic-neuroendocrine dysfunction and overweight after fructose-rich diet intake by the lactating mother. *Endocrinology*. 2010;151:4214-23.

178. Huynh M, Luiken JJ, Coumans W and Bell RC. Dietary fructose during the suckling period increases body weight and fatty acid uptake into skeletal muscle in adult rats. *Obesity (Silver Spring)*. 2008;16:1755-62.

179. Janssens JP, Shapira N, Debeuf P, Michiels L, Putman R, Bruckers L, Renard D and Molenberghs G. Effects of soft drink and table beer consumption on insulin response in normal teenagers and carbohydrate drink in youngsters. *Eur J Cancer Prev.* 1999;8:289-95.

180. Kendig MD, Fu MX, Rehn S, Martire SI, Boakes RA and Rooney KB. Metabolic and cognitive improvement from switching to saccharin or water following chronic consumption by female rats of 10% sucrose solution. *Physiol Behav.* 2018;188:162-172.

181. Sclafani A and Nissenbaum JW. Taste preference thresholds for Polycose, maltose, and sucrose in rats. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 1987;11:181-5.

182. Sclafani A, Vural AS and Ackroff K. CAST/EiJ and C57BL/6J Mice Differ in Their Oral and Postoral Attraction to Glucose and Fructose. *Chem Senses*. 2017;42:259-267.

183. Baron J, Sävendahl L, De Luca F, Dauber A, Phillip M, Wit JM and Nilsson O. Short and tall stature: a new paradigm emerges. *Nat Rev Endocrinol*. 2015;11:735-46.

Appendix





Females

Males



